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My fellow Stockholders

SuccessFactors has always been about 120% passion respect for each human being in our ecosystem
whether or not she or he is on ou payroll We have won more deals quicker because we believe our

people showed heart in way that is seldom seen in the business world

Its time to make that expression clearer and put the heart back into business. its time to love work

again the heart is symbol to ourselves our customers our team members and our investors for

pursuing high humanity more fun and pursuit of things done right authentically from the heart And the

funny thing is.. that is better for business and better for business execution

In 2010 we took our annual customer conference on the road to San Francisco New York Chicago
Frankfurt and Sydney We had more than 1000 customers attend our conference up 70% from 2009
Some of the worlds largest organizations were there for example we had Coca Cola explaining how

SuccessFactors is an integral part of their business operating framework and Siemens talking about its

largest deployment in the Cloud

2010 was truly remarkable year for SuccessFactors Weve achieved number of significant

milestones in financial growth and product innovation As result we remain one of the fastest growing

publicly-listed cloud companies worldwide THE CUSTOMER MUST WIN

Business Momentum

Revenue increased by 35% to record $205.9 million We surpassed the $200 million mark in

annual revenue only two years after we crossed the $100 million mark

Billings which we define as GAAP revenue plus change in deferred revenue accelerated throughout

2010 Fourth quarter billings grew 41% to record quarterly level of $89 million For the full year

billings increased 38% to record $255.2 million

Corporate VP of HR Marion Horstmann and ClO Dr Norbert Kleinjohan of Siemens with

CEO of SuccessFactors at SuccessConnect Europe 2010



successfactvrs
BUSINESS EXECUTION SOFTWARE

Cash flow from operations grew by 182% to $43.4 million We ended 2010 With cash and equivalents

of $356.5 million which provides significant capital base to drive future growth and investments

Our commitment to innovation and customer success continues to drive over 100% retention rates on

dollar basis and over 90% on customer basis Our recurring revenue base sets the stage for

continued strong cash flows and future profitability

We continue to aggressively expand internationally with international billings up 65% year-over-year

International billings now account for approximately one-third of our total new business

We also opened new office in Shanghai to expand our footprint of cloud computing development

and to deliver our solutions to the Asia Pacific region

Stockholders realized more than 70% return during 2010 as SFSF shares significantly

outperformed the major market indices Our market capitalization also crossed the $2 billion dollar

threshold for the first time in 2010

Social Quick Hire Solution

Delivering BizX Continuous Focus on Innovation and User Experience

We were honored to be named Number in the enterprise segment of the annual customer

satisfaction study conducted by Bersin Associates leading industry research firm Our customers

gave us an overall satisfaction score of 4.17 out of 5the highest of any enterprise solution provider

Our SF ROX Index also demonstrates our customers outperform their Nasdaq peers by 20% and

SP 500 peers by 40%.1
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We continued to introduce and enhance number of our products including

EmployeeCentral revolutionary product for organizational insight and social collaboration for the

enterprise Employee Central allows companies to maintain centralized employee information

with deeply integrated social collaboration and workforce analytics giving employees managers
and executives single real-time hub for more complete picture of their people

Cube Tree Social Collaboration our Cubelree solution improves employee productivity and

teamwork by combining collaboration tools with private social network From the same profile

and organizational data used in other modules Cubelree connects employees resulting in rapid

adoption and jump starling collaboration The module lets teams work efficiently in public and

private groups drawing on wide array of tools including blogs wikis Social Docs polls and

task tracking

Recruiting Management our solution is built to work seamlessly with the entire SuccessFactors

BizX suite of applications and is designed for todays social and collaborative hiring world Our

product engages everyone in the hiring process not just recruiters for better outcome We also

introduced significant ease of use innovations through our drag-and-drop Talent Pipeline

dashboard and added significant enhancements including comprehensive offer management

capabilities background check and onboarding integrations with our strategic partner

Verifications Inc and cfoud based web services

Goal Management our solution makes it easy for customers to reinforce goals monitor goal

achievement and coordinate goals across teams Customers are able to increase likelihood of

goal success and work better as team by setting meetings to talk about an employees goals

Calibration Team Rater this solution allows managers to quickly assess and create visual

and intuitive stack ranking of their teams leveraging detailed criteria in real time It provides

managers powerful tool to optimize their teams and quickly identify top and lower performers

BizX Insights and Workforce Analytics our robust BizX Insights and Workforce Analytics

capability provides visibility into key performance and talent data across the organization

Executives can access global views of the entire organizations performance data including goal

status performance review ratings and compensation in real time

Workforce Planning provides industry-leading capabilities to connect companys business

goals to its workforce plan Companies can plan and model various scenarios with detailed

supply and demand assumptions to create detailed and executable plan for all critical roles

In 2010 we were also active on the acquisition front During the year we announced and closed

three market defining acquisitions Inform CubeTree and YouCalc These acquisitions significantly

broaden the capabilities of our BizX suite

We closed the Inform acquisition in July 2010 which added significant analytics capabilities to the

BizX suite The powerful combination of Inform analytics coupled with our market leading BizX

suite is already paying significant dividends as we won some significant deals within six months

after closing

Also in July 2010 we closed the acquisition of CubeTree which adds social capabilities to the

BizX suite CubeTree enables instant communication collaboration and sharing delivered in

secure scalable way CubeTrees collaboration tools help improve employee execution by

combining social networking with tools built for enterprises Social technologies will continue to

become more important to how people work and now we have joined forces with the leader in

enterprise collaboration
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We obtained the Calculator in the Cloud via the acquisition of YouCalc Epista Software P15 in

July 2010 This functionality puts significant analytics capability within the hands of each and

every user from individual employees all the way up to the executive suite

Looking forward we remain extremely focused on delivering market leading innovations to our

customers through our world-class development team and strategic acquisitions

People and Culture

We truly have unique asset at SuccessFactors our people Our ability to attract and retain the

highest caliber talent is key differentiator for SuccessFactors Over the course of 2010 we invested

in our people and continued to attract top tier management talent from around the world

In 2010 Doug Dennerline joined the Company as President Doug brings significant experience in

building and scaling global distribution organizations During Dougs tenure as head of the

Collaboration Business Unit at Cisco revenues expanded from $4.5 billion to $9.5 billion

We also deepened our talent bench by bringing on seasoned leadership in many other areas of the

organizations including the addition of Jeffrey Diana as Chief People Officer and Darryl Dickens as

Chief Marketing Officer and Hillary Smith as General Counsel

Our success has also enabled us to recruit seasoned business leaders with tremendous track records

of both innovation and execution to our Board of Directors. In September 2010 we added John

Schwarz former CEO of SAP Business Objects and executive board member of SAP AG In January

2011 we added Bill Harris former CEO of Intuit and Paypal

Finally the employees of SuccessFactors and our JapanHeip 11 Match Program collectively raised

over $160000 to date for the victims of the recent tragic events in Japan Not only do our employees

give their all every day here at SuccessFactors but they also band together to help others in times of

need

On May 23 2011 well celebrate our tenth anniversary As we head into our second decade were

tremendously excited about what the future holds for us and were fired up for another decade of market-

defining innovation and user experience profitable growth and continued market expansion This is such

great market we have created and we have really only just begun

Its time to love work again

look forward to sharing our future successes with you

Semper fi

Lars

Lars Dalgaard

Founder and Chief Executive Officer

SuccessFactors Inc

SF ROX comprises North American publicly listed companies which when the investment was made had been using more than

modules for more than quarters with more than 50% of employees using the solution For more details visit

http//www.successfactors.com/roxl
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This annual report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 These forward-looking statements are SuccessFactors current

expectations and beliefs

These forward-looking statements include statements about growth rate market size acquisition benefits

and product performance and benefits Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from

those contemplated by these forward-looking statements include our ability to retain customers and to

experience high customer renewal rates whether customers renew their agreements for additional

modules or users pricing pressures the fact that the business execution market is at an early stage of

development and may not develop as rapidly as we anticipate risks related to the integration of the

acquisitions including retaining customers and employees and managing geographically-dispersed

operations competitive factors outages or security breaches our ability to develop and market

acceptance of new services the impact of any discovered product defects or outages our ability to

continue to sell our services outside the HR area our ability to manage our growth our ability to

successfully expand our sales force and its effectiveness whether our resellers and other partners will be

successful in marketing our products our ability to continue to manage expenses the impact of

unforeseen expenses including as result of integrating acquisitions and general economic conditions

worldwide If any such risks or uncertainties materialize or if any of the assumptions proves incorrect our

results could differ materially from the results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements we

make

Further information on these and other factors that could affect our financial results is included in the

section entitled Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our most recent report on Form

10-0 and in other filings we make with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Information

SuccessFactors provides quarterly and annual financial statements that are prepared in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles GAAP To help understand SuccessFactors past financial

performance and future results SuccessFactors has supplemented its financial results that it provides in

accordance with GAAP with non-GAAP financial measures The method SuccessFactors uses to

produce non-GAAP financial results is not computed according to GAAP and may differ from the methods

used by other companies The company defines billings as revenue plus change in total deferred

revenue Non-GAAP revenue includes revenue from acquired companies that is required to be written

down for GAAP purposes under purchase accounting rules

Billings Reconciliation Q4 2010 Fiscal 2010

GAAP Revenue $60152 $205926

Ending total deferred revenue 234445 234445

Less Beginning total deferred revenue 206087 181624

Less Beginning total deferred revenue from acquisitions 3573

Change in total deferred revenue 28358 49248

Billings revenue plus changed in deferred revenue $88510 $255174
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Washington D.C 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the year ended December 31 2010

fl TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 001-33755

SuccessFactors Inc
Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter

Delaware 7372 94-3398453

State or Other Jurisdiction of Priminy Standard Industrial I.R.S Employer

Incorporation or Organization Classifibation Code Number Identification Number

1500 Fashion Island Blvd Suite 300

San Mateo CA 94404

Address of Principal Executive Offices

650 645.2000

Registrants telephone number

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Exchange Act

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Common Stock $0.00 par
value The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Exchange Act
None
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PARTI

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements All statements contained in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K other than statements of historical fact including statements regarding our future

results of operations and financial position our business strategy and plans and our objectives for future

operations are forward-looking statements The words believe may will estimate continue

anticipate intend expect and- similarexpressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements We
have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future

events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition results of operations business

strategy short-term and long-term business operations and objectives and financial needs These forward

looking statements are subject to number of risks uncertainties and assumptions including those described in

Risk Factors hi light of these risks uncertainties and assumptions the future events and trends discussed in

this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from

those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements

We cannot guarantee future results levels of activity performance or achievements We are under no duty

and do not intend to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report on Form

10-K to conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations

Except wherç the context requires otherwise in this report company SuccessFactors we us and

our refer to SuccessFactors Inc Delaware corporation and where appropriate its subsidiaries

Item Business

Our Mission

Execution is the difference It is the critical success factor But for most companies there is significant

execution deficit While every company has strategymost companies do not execute on their strategy as well

as they can or should for one simple reason It is just not that easy to get everyone in an organization to take the

right actions at the right time to produce the right result every day Thats where SuccessFactors comes in We
help companies execute effectively on their strategy in two important ways by making sure everyone in the

organization is completely aligned and working on the right things Business Alignment and by ensuring every

employee is working to his or her full potential People Performance We are on remarkable missionto

change the world by making every company we work with more meritocratic place to work where promotion

and pay is based on performance and not politics ii1 this ay we are working to improve execution inside of

every company we work with

Our Solutions

SuccessFactors is tile leading provider of cloud-based Business Execution BizX software solutions to

organizations of all sizes with more than million users across multiple industries and geographies We strive to

delight our customers by delivering innovative solutions broad
range

of content process expertise and best

practices knowledge gained from serving our large and varied customer base Today we have more than 3200

customers in more than 168 countries using our application suite th 34 languages Our customer base includes

organizations with as few as three and as many as 2000000 end users

Compared to traditional approaches our solutions offer customers rapid benefits and retum on investment

enabling them to execute effectively on their strategy Key customer benefits include

Tangible Business Impact Our solutions enable our customers to bridge the execution gap between

strategy and achieving results by systematically aligning human resources HR to organizational



strategy and optimizing workforce performance By optimizing workforce performance and ensuring

the collective efforts of their people are aligned to business strategy we help customers achieve

superior business results by allowing them to

communicate strategy changes more quickly

increase time spent on strategic priorities

increase the rate of project completion

increase the number of high performers and decrease the number of low performers and

increase overall productivity

Goal Management and Performance Management Foundation in Driving Business Results We
designed our solutions around our core Goal Management and Performance Management modules

because we believe they serve as the founqation for the two key components of effective btsiness

execution Business Alignment and People Performance

Continuous Customer-Driven Development We capture and incorporate best practices knowledge we

gain from interactions with our customer base Our customer-centric development focus together with

our cloud-based model have enabled us to release significant enhancements several times year over

the past eight years

Relentless Use r-Centric Innovalion Drives Adoption We focus on end users across all business

functions and strive to deliver business applications that are as engaging as popular consumer web

appliŁations by incorporating features and content such as real-time coaching goal and performance

review writing assistants personal dashboards and best-practice wizards As result our user interface

is designed to be highly intuitive requiring limited training for end users

Highly Configurable Functionally Integrated Cloud-Based Application Suite We built the core

modules of our application suite organically using the same code base so that customers can provide

their employees with common user experience leverage common data and
processes

and easily add

modules over time Our application suite requires no installation of software or equipment on premises

which significantly reduces the costs and risks of traditional enterprise software Our solution is highly

configurable allowing customers to tailor their deployment to reflect their identity unique business

processes and existing forms and templates We believe our architecture allows us to offer more

flexible scalable and secure service offering that is competitively priced when compared to other

cloud-based vendors

Broad Applicability Within Organizations of All Sizes and Industries Our solutions are designed to be

used by employees at all levels within an organization and we offer multiple editions to meet the needs

of organizations of all sizes

Integration with Third-Party Applications through the Cloud Our SuccessCloud initiative allows third-

party applications and data from other business systems to connect and integrate with the

SuccessFactors BizX suite This enables customers to get the most from their existing technology

investments and tap broad ecosystem of SuccessFactcirs partners to enable effective businçss

execution

Our Application Suite

We offer suite of BizX applications delivered through the cloud that enables organizations to optimize

business alignment and the performance of their people to drive business results We leverag multi-tenant

architecture and the core modules of our application suite and utilize single code base We market different

editions of our application suite to better address the needs of organizations of different sizes

Enterprise We offer Enterprise Edition to larger businesses Enterprise Edition is our most fully-

featured offering providing functionality and configurability that can scale to support the complex

needs of large global enterprises with tens to hundreds of thousands of employees



Mid-Sized Business We offer SuccessPractices to mid-sized businesses which typically need robust

solution but may not require the advanced functionality of our Enterprise Edition Each of the

SuccessPractices modules is pre-configured with best-practice workflows form templates and other

content tailored for the needs of mid-sized organizations and designed to allow for rapid

implementations

Small Business We offer Professional Edition to small businesses Small businesses typically need an

automated solution but may not require the more advanced functionality of our other editions

Professional Edition.includes modules pre-configured with the best practices of smaller organizations

Emerging Business We offer our Express Edition an out-of-the-box performance review solution to

emerging businesses Express Edition is web-based user-friendly system that can be ràlled out

instantly without implementation support

We offer the following modules as part of our application suite

Peiformance Management Our Performance Management module streamlines the performance appraisal

process
and transforms the often rushed and tedious performance review

process
into an ongoing method of tying

employee performance to business results The module is highly configurable allowing customers to desigti

performance review templates and workflows that best meet their needs Performance Management also delivers

rich content that enables managers to provide meaningful and productive feedback to their direct and indirect

reports Performance Management is tightly integrated with our other modules allowing organizations to

assess performance accurately allowing for goal adjustments in real time

setrelevant development goals based on accurate competency assessments

compensate empldyees based on objective performance evaluations

assess key performance data as part of the succession planning process and

understand characteristics of strong performance to optimize recruiting

Goal Management Our Goal Management module supports the process of creating monitoring and

assessing employee goals across the organization Goal Management allows executives and managers to align

employee goals to the priorities of the organization Customers can improve ovezall employee performance and

agility by using Goal Management to focus employees on shared goals as these goals evolve Goal Management

can continually track
progress against high-level strategic goals across the organizatioI Goal Management is

tightly integrated with our other modules allowing organizations to

design competency development programs based on skills needed to achieve key goals

evaluate individual performance against agreed upon goals

make merit increase and bonus distribution decisions based on accomplishment of goals

make informed succession planning decisions based on historical goal attainment data and

expedite on-boarding of newly-hired employees with clearly articulated goals

Compensation Management Our Compensation Management module helps our customers establish

pay-for-performance culture Compensation Management facilitates the processes of merit pay adjustments

bonus allocations and distribution of stock-based awards It also includes variable pay management component

that takes overall organizational and department performance into account in making individual compensation

decisions Compensation Management supports multiple currency conversion capabilities which is particularly

critical for customers with global presence Compensation Management is tightly integrated with our other

modules allowing organizations to

influence employee engagement and thereby goal attainment by supporting pay-for-performance

culture



directly link compensation distribution decisions to tracked performance

access compensation history to inform succession management decisions

allocate compensation based on skill development and anticipated performance and

design hiring requisitions based on compensation guidelines

Succession Maijagement Our Succession Management module provides real-time visibility into an

organizations talent pool from senior executives to individual contributors This allows customers to plan for

staffing changes by identifying key contributors throughout the organization and providing current profiles and

readiness rankings for each candidate This
process

enables customers to proactively develop and assure the

readiness of employee talent at all levels Succession Management is tightly integrated with our other modules

allowing organizations to

improve talent readiness in anticipation of evolving business goals and strategies

incorporate employee development activities into the succession planning process

view history of employee performance and assessments of potential as part of succession pliming

decisions

adjust compensation based on succession planning decisions and

identify gaps in internal talent to optimize extemal recruiting

Career and Development Planning Our Career and Development Planning module aligns learning activities

with an employees competency gaps required to achieve key goals This allows customers to avoid costly

non-strategic training programs while facilitating the attainment of skills required for current and futufe job

requirements Career and Development Planning is tightly integrated with our other modules allowing

organizations to

consider development accomplishments as part of compensation decisions

link employee career development goals with succession planniiig activities

take organizational competency data into account when planning for external hiring

include competency assessments and development plans in performanc reviews and

ensure that employees have the skills required to execute on strategic objectives

Recruiting Management Our Recruiting Management module streamlines the process of identifying

screening selecting hiring and on-boarding job applicants Hiring managers can identify talent gaps and initiate

the process of creating hiring rçquisitions based on organizational nepds These detailed hiring requisitions can

automatically be passed through customers internal approval process and routed to the appropriate internal or

external recruiters Recruiting Managment is tightly integrated with our other modules allàwing organizations

to

improve hiring effectiveness for better execution of organizational goals

identify performance expectations for newly-hired employees

predefine compensation benchmarks for employees in newly-hired positions

expose hiring needs as part of periodic succession planning sessions and

predefine development programs for newly-hired employees

Employee CentraL Our Employee Central module is next-generation HR information system that provides

single point to manage HR-related employee and organizational information enable employees to collaborate



and share information across the organization and empower business leaders to leverage key talent insights to

make better business decisions Some key capabilities include

robust core HR data management and
process automation

HR reporting and compliance

rich aggregate employee profile information and

collaboration tools such as tagging badges and directory search and talent search all of which can be

easily accessed and viewed by-managers and executives

Our application suite also includes

Analytics and Reporting Our Analytics and Reporting capability augmented by our acquisition of Inform

Business Impact provides visibility into key performance and talent data across the organization Managers and

executives can access global views of the entire organizations performance data including goal status

perforipance review ratings and compensation in real time This capability offers insights to critical performance

management trends through clear and easy-to-understand dashboards that summarize results while also linking to

underlying data All data can be seamlessly exported to spreadsheets for additional offline analysis We also

provide workiorce analytics and workforce planning capabilities that provide valuable insights to managers and

executives Workforce analytics provides the ability to understand key workiorce issues using flexible and easy

to set up tool that comes pre-built with thonsands of best practice metrics and analysis Workforce planning

provides the ability to connect companys business goals to its workforce plan Using industry-leading

capabilities company can plan and model various scenarios with detailed supply and demand assumptions to

create detailed and executable plan for all critical roles

Cube Tree Social Collaboration Our CubeTree module helps improve employee productivity and teamwork

by combining collaboration tools with private social network By following people and groups of interest and

by posting updates and comments users keep each other up to date on their activities The module lets teams

work efficiently in public and private groups drawing on wide array of tools including blogs wilds Social

Docs polls and task tracking From the same profile and organization data used in other modules CubeTree

connects employees resulting in rapid adoption and jump starting collaboration Tightly integrated with our other

modules CubeTree allows organizations to

streamline on-boarding and other people processes as employees easily find content and experts

accelerate recmiting by simplifying resume review and discussion on candidates

break down organizational silos as teams work effectively across departments and geographies

reduce travel and communication costs and

improve employee engagement and satisfaction

Employee Profile Our Employee Profile capability aggregates employee profile information such as work

experience and educational background and stores it in centralized master data repository that can be accessed

at any time by authorized personnel When more of our modules are used the richness of data on each employee

builds in the Employee Profile making it increasingly robust and valuable Each employees information can

easily be accessed via an intuitive employee directory search capability Employee Profile allows users to create

relevant tags making it easier for anyone to identify them based on work-related activities or functions

360-Degree Review Our 360-Degree Review capability supports the collection of feedback from an

employees peers direct and indirect reports and superiors Once collected the feedback can be aggregated

providing comprehensive view of an employees strengths weaknesses and areas of improvement This

capability allows for an insightful and comprehensive assessment of employees resulting in better

understanding of competency gaps and development needs



Employee Survey Our Employee Survey capability provides management with actionable insights about

their employee base It provides managers with fast and efficient way to fine-tune initiatives solidify

workgroup alignment or quickly gain perspective on employee engagement satisfaction and other relevant

employee data Our Strategic Consulting Services team often works with customers to help them interpret survey

results and recommend actions to ensure overall organizational success

Calibration Team Rater Our Calibration Team Rater capability lets managers quickly assess and

create visual and intuitive rating of their teams across detailed criteriain real timeto identify top and lower

performers Whether performing talent reviews or ad hoc assessments Calibration Team Rater gives managers

tool to optimize their teams by for example enabling them to target limited rewards to top employees that

deserve extra recognition or quickly identify low performers when faced with difficult layoff decisions

Proprietary and Third-Party Content Our application suite incorporates proprietary and third-party content

that is tailored to wide range of business roles and industries This content provides customers with valuable

insights and information to increase the effectiveness of their performance and talent management For example

we have proprietary libraries for competendes goals job descriptions skills surveys and wage data and other

content such as

Writing Assistant for performance and 360-degree reviews which helps eliminate writers block and

facilitates creating concise meningful feedback for employees

Coaching Advisor which enables managers to proactively provide relevant coaching and support for

their direct and indirect reports based on identified competency gaps

SuccessFactors Coach which integrates coaching and mentoring into an employees daily routine and

Interview Question Library which helps hiring managers interview effectively and facilitates

standard approach to talent assessment and selection

Professional Services

Our professional services teams mission is to help our customers rapidly achieve the best results from our

BizX solutions and value proposition With our cloud-based model we have eliminated the need for lengthy and

complex technology-focused tasks such as customizing code deploying equipment and managing unique

network and application environments for each customer Instead we focus on business and HR best practices

and business process review Our professional service consultants are experienced in variety of competencies to

support enterprise-level application implementations including core HR and talent strategy and process

application configuration integration and data migration reporting and project management In 2010 we

significantly grew our global professional services team to support sales growth

Implementation Servicer Our implementation services consultants who are aligned by market segment use

our proprietary implementation methodology to implement our solution quickly and effectively For small and

mid-sized customers our solution can be configured in matter of days or weeks Our implementation approach

is based upon best practice templates that give customers flexibility within proven configuration framework

For our larger customers implementations typically take few months Our experienced project managers

partner with customers to successfully manage projects using our proven project methodology Most of our

projects are priced on fixed-fee basis which reduces the risk of implementation cost overruns often associated

with on-premise software We also provide follow-on services including end-user training and strategic

consulting services

SuccessFactors University SuccessFactors University provides training to enhance the end-user experience

and drive business results for our customers We offer variety of packaged training content such as course

curricula training guides and reference materials We offer courses online or in person at customer locations

Our training professionals will also work with customers to develop tailored curricula and materials to suit their

specific needs



Strategic Consulting Services We leverage our understanding of business and HR best practices to help

customers gain additional business value from our solution Services
range from developing and implementing

change management programs and defining metrics-based
processes for performance and talent management to

guiding executive teams oh goal setting and goal cascading

Customer Support

We are dedicated to the pursuit of customer success and satisfaction We believe this has significantly

contributed to our maintaining greater than 90% customerretention rate during 2009 and through 2010 In

2010 SuccessFactors was number in the enterprise segment of the annual customer satisfaction study

conducted by Bersin Associates SuccessFactors also earned 2010 Technology Services Industry Association

iward for excellence in customer support

At the center of our customer success effort is our Customer Success Organization Staffed with

SuccessFactors product professionals this team provides post-implementation support services that assist

customers by answering functionality questions and resolving issues they may encounter Our focus is on

ensuring effective and successful use of our BizX suite

Customers can choose between our Standard and Platinum support program options Our Standard support

program is included as part of customers basic subscription fee This includes assistance from our support staff

during normal business hours as well as access to many online resources Our Platinum support program

provides enhanced support services including 24x7x365 access to our support staff proactive relationship with

planning and review meetings demonstration of new product functionality and proactive alignment with our

customers business execution objectives

To ensure we deliver consistent and reliable support services we leverage sophisticated technology systems

for customer and case management performance analytics online service and telephone response In addition

we have developed proprietary customer adoption and usage monitoring mechanisms that help us proactively

engage with customers to ensure they are getting value from our solutions We provide our customers an online

platform to submit update and manage service requests Our support services offerings are global and leverage

phone email and other online communication channels Customer satisfaction surveys and key performance

metrics are reviewed regularly to ensure that we maintain high level of responsiveness and satisfaction



Customers

Consmner

Cadbury Schweppes Plc

Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc

LG Electronics

PepsiCo

Whirlpool Corporation

Sales and Marketing

Baylor Health Care System

GGNSC Administrative Services LLC

Henry Ford Health System

Inova Health System

Sutter Health

Financial Services

Mellon Bank N.A

MetLife Insurance Company

Morgan Stanley Co Incorporated

The TorontoDominion Bank

Wachpvia Wells Fargo company

Life Sciences

Allergan Inc

Becton Dickinson

Pfizer Inc

Sanofi-Aventis U.S LLC
Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited

Telecommunications and Technology

We sell our application suite primarily through our global direct sales organization Our sales force is

organized by geographic regions including North Ameriºa Latin America Europe and the Middle East and

Asia Pacific For financial information about our geographic areas see note of the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included in Iteth 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K We further organize our sales force into teams by specific customer segments based on the size of

our prospective customers such as small mid-sized and large named customers to provide higher level of

service and understanding of our customers unique needs We work with channel partners including leading

global human resources outsourcing vendors such as Ceridian Corporation Hewitt Associates and Intemational

Business Machines Corporation or IBM who resell our application suite For 2009 and 2010 revenue through

third-party resellers grew from $9.4 million to $10.4 million and accounted for approximately 6% and 5% of our

total revenue respectively For discussion of backlog and seasonality see Item Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationOverview of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

We generate customer leads accelerate sales opportunities and build brand awareness through our

marketing programs Our marketing programs target Human Resource HR executives technology

professionals senior line-of-business leaders and corporate or institutional executives Like our sales teams our

marketing team and programs are organized by geography company size and industry to focus on the unique

needs of customers within the target markets Our principal marketing programs include

field marketing events for customers and prospects

participation in and sponsorship of user conferences trade shows and industry events

customer programs including user meetings and our online customer community

online marketing activities including direct email online web advertising pay-per-click blogs and

webinars

public and analyst relations

As of December 31 2010 we had more than 3200 end customers of all sizes The following table setfprth

list of some of our largest end customers by industry category based on number of end users

Energy

Government and Education

American Electric Power Services Corp
Duke Energy

Republic Services

United States Steel

Vale Inco Technical Services Limited

Healthcare

Corinthian Colleges Inc

Jet Propulsion Laboratory

Kaplan Inc

United Nations Development

Programme

Mannfacturing Retail

Baker Hughes Harris Teeter Inc EMC Corporation

Flextroniqs4lnternational USA Inc

General Ivfotors Corporation

LensCrafters Inc

Pep Boys-Manny Moe Jack

Nokia Siemens Networks Oy

Orange Personal Communication Services

Ingersoll Rand Company Textron Inc SearsRoebuck and Co Rogers Communications Inc Symantec

The Gap Inc Corporation
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cooperative marketing efforts with partners including joint press announcements joint trade show

activities channel marketing campaigns and joint seminars

use of our website to provide product and company infonnation as well as learning opportunities for

potential customers and

inbound lead generation representatives who respond to incoming leads to convert them into new sales

opportunities

We host SuccessConnect user conferences globally where customers both participate in and deliver

variety of programs designed to help accelerate business performance through the use of our application suite

-Our conferences feature variety of prominent keynote and customer speakers panelists and presentations

focused on businesses of all sizes across wide range
of industries The events also bring together partners

customers and other key participants in the human resources area to exchange ideas and best practices for

improving business performance Attendees gain insight into our products and participate in interactive sessions

that give them the opportunity to express opinions on new features and functionalities

Strategic Relationships

An important element of our strategy is establishing deep relationships with key industry leaders to enable

the widespread adoption of our aplicatioti suite We have established network of relationships that expand our

capabilities in multiple areas including distribution of our solutions through resellers and referral partners

implementation and consulting services through professional services and consulting organizations and

expanded features and functionalities through content and product partners This approach enables us to focus on

our core competencies while at the same time providing additional value to our customers

Outsourcing and Distribution Relationships

We have network of third parties that resell our application suite directly refer customer prospects to us

and assist our internal sales force These include leading global human resource outsourcing vendors such as

Ceridian Hewitt Associates and IBM and professional employer outsourcers such as Administaff Inc and

TriNet Group Inc Outsourcing partners allow customers that desire to outsource multiple HR processes to

leverage the benefits of our solutions We also have number of leading human capital management HCM
value-added resellers who offer our products in targeted geographies around the world including Avanxo

Mexico Affero Brazil AKT Solutions Israel Daya Dimensi Indonesia and Itochu Corporation Japan

Consulting and Implementation Relationships

We work with leading human resources consulting firms to expand our delivery capabilities as well as to

offer additional value-added services These include reltionsMps with industry leaders such as Capgemini

Consulting Hewitt Associates IBM Knowledge InMsion McKinney Rogers Aasonn LLC 3D Results and

PriceWaterhouseCoopers Japan PriceWàterhouseCoopers Italy and PriceWaterhouseCoopers US

Content and Product Relationships

We have relationships with leading content and product companies that complement our solutions by

making specialized content and functionality available to our customers These include competency vendors such

as Lominger International Kom/Ferry company PayScale PeopleSciences and Personnel Decisions

International Corp We also have integration relationships with vendors of complementary products such as Dell

Boomi eQuest LLC JobVite LexisNexis Ping Identity SkillSoft and Verifications Inc that provide additional

functionality such as job boards social recrniting background check services and onboarding solutions
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Acquisitions

Acquisitions are an important element of our overall corporate strategy and over the past year we have

focused on expanding our application sujte through acquisitions We completed acquisitions of Inform Business

Impact CubeTree Inc and Epista Software A/S YouCalc in July 2010 Inform Business Impact expanded

our business analytics and workiorce planning offerings CubeTree expanded our enterprise social networking

capabilities and YouCalc supplemented our foundational technologies with tool fot analysis of real-time data

across different systems and sources For further discussion of our acquisitions see note of the notes to our

consolidated financial statements included in Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Technology

Our solutions are architected from the outset to be cloud-based multi-tenant highly scalable highly secure

highly configurable and high performance in order to rapidly deliver value to our customers Customers can

access our solutions via standard web browser without requiring any changes to their network or IT
infrastructure

In designing our solutions we set out to achieve number of goals First the technology had to be highly

scalable to accommodate customer growth while continuing to provide high application availability Second the

data and transactions had to be highly secuie using advanced security technologies and protocols Third the

solution architecture had to be multi-tenant allowing us to maintaln only one current release that all of ouf

customers use eliminating the overhead associated ivith software upgrades or migrations common to many

on-premise or other hosted software solutions Fourth the solutions had to allow for rdpid response limes during

heavy usage Finally our solutions had to be technology agnostic including allOwing our customers to access

them from any web browser

Our solutions are architected to deliver user experience that feels highiy customized without requiring

custom code changes Many customers can be configured and even go live in matter of few days or weeks

as compared to the months and in some cases years that may be required for traditional enterprise software

implementations Our solutions allow our customers to quickly start using them Since our solutions are easy to

configure our professional services personnel are generally not programmers but rather performance and talent

management specialists who can focus on providing maximum value to customers on the use of our solutions

Our solutions are also designed to satisfy strict security requirements SuccessFactors makes extensive use

of advanced roles and permissions capabilities that are designed and built into our solutions We also have

extensive audit histories of transactions throughout our solutions In addition our architecture logically

segregates our customers data This data segregation allows our solutions to easily scale horizontally by load

balancing customer instances across database servers

We use hybrid approach in our multi-tenant database architecture hiCh we believe is unique when

compared to other cloud-based multi-tenant applications While the-core of our approach multi-tenant with

identical database table schemas for each customer our BizX suite leveiages self-descrlbing attributes of XML to

abstract many of the unique customer data requirements into our extensible object medel While all of the data is

stored in standard RDBMS the table structure itself is simplified with all of the core entity data self-described

within an XML-based object model This approach allows for highly-configurable user experience enabling

customers to provide their users with web-based performance and talent management system that is familiar

and easy to adopt because it provides highly customer-based experience and also can mimic the layout of

prior paper-based system

Users can also enter goals tasks targets and milestones into different goal plan templates and layouts all

while leveraging common permission control model for access to public and private goals within their

organization This approach also allows us to interface with services across service oriented architecture or
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SOA environment With our approach we are able to retain the scalability advantages of multi-tenant model

with identical schemas while still offering customers the ability to benefit from highly configurable application

As result customers can benefit from lower costs as compared to on-premise software while at the same time

achieving higher levels of configurability than we beliese are achievable with other cloud-based architectures

Another key feature of our application architecture is its ability to understand the hierarchical structure of

employee relationships within an organization This feature is essential to our performance and talent

management applications and are carrying it into our BizX suite and CubeTree solution Using traditional

flat table-based database software applications to understand the hierarchical structure of employee relationships

is difficult becausequeries must traverse the entire employee hierarchy in order to effectively search across the

dataset using standard SQL Our proprietary implementation of LeftfRight Algorithm allows our solution to

optimize these queries and quickly search atid retrieve hierarchical data This approach allows managers to

cascade goals to team members and allows each team member to personalize these goals for their particular goal

plah all while the system seamlessly maintains the relationship between the original and cascaded goals in the

employee hierarchy

SuccessFactors has also partnered with number of leading companies in the human capital management

space to provide to its customers series of web services These web services are being delivered in industry

standard SOAP format and have the same lº-els of security applied to them as our customers have come to

expect in our solutions

The majority of our software is written in industry-standard software programming languages such as Java

We also make extensive use of Web 2.0 technologies such as AJAX and some limited uses of Flash for

improved usability and performance and to deliver rich and highly interactive user experience Our hardware

consists primarily of industry standard web servers application servers database servers and storage and

networking equipment We support recent versions of major web browsers on major operating systems

Deveiopmeiit
il

We work closely with our customers and user community to continually improve and enhance our existing

product offerings and-develop new solutions and features Our product development lifecycle focuses on rapid

inndvation and development in order to quickly deliver the features most desired by our customers Our product

management.ahd engineering teams closely collaborate with customers and partners through all phases of the

development process key element of this focus is our web-based Customer Community portal and allows

customers and employees to suggest collaborate on and vote on new features and functionalities Our product

management team uses this input to drive many of the development plans and priorities of the engineering team

We also conduct frequent user meetings maintain customer advisory board and offer other events to provide

customers an opportunity to submit ideas for and provide feedback on our developmçnt roadmap We frequently

engage customers in design reviews and usability tests for software under development

Our engineering process is based on combination of three methodologies traditipnal
waterfall for lpng

term product release planning scrum development methodology for agilitysupporting our frequent release

process and fast reacti6n to ufgent customer and market needs and the Extreme Programming methodology to

drive rapid development tight connection to business requirements and quality Leveraging our multi-tenant

platform architecture we can quickly introduce new features across our entire customer base without the need for

customers to install or implement any software New functionalities are generally delivered on an opt-in

basiscustomers can activate new functionalities when it is most convenient to them Customers can also use

our SuccessFactoy toolkit to configure their SuccessFactors modules to fit their business processes or engage

the SuccessFactors Professional Services team to help them do so

Our research and development expenses were $23.1 million in 2008 $24.4 million in 2009 and $39.9

million in 2010
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Operations

We serve our customers and end users from eight secure data centers worldwide Physical security features

at these facilities include 24x7x365 manned security station and access controls The systems at these facilities

are protected by firewalls and encryption technology Operational redundancy features include redundant power
on-site backup generators and environmental controls and monitoring

We employ wide range of security features including two-factor authentication data encryption encoded

session identifications and passwords We contract with specialized security vendors to conduct regular security

audits of our infrastmcture We also employ outside vendors for 24x7x365 managed network securitj and

monitoring Every page we serve is delivered encrypted to the end user via Secure Socket Layer or SSL
transaction We also use encryption tecimology in our storage systems and backup tapes

We continuously monitor the performance of our application suite using variety of automated tools We
designed our infrastructure with built-in redundancy for key components Our network includes firewalls

switches and intrusion detection systems and incorporates failover backup for maximum uptime We load

balance at each tier in the network infrastructure We also designed our application server clusters so tht servers

can fail without interrupting the user experience and our database servers are clustered for failover We reguiarly

back up and store customer data on-site and off-site in secure locations to minimize the risk of data loss atany

facility

Competition

The overall market for business execution solutions is fragmented rapidly evolving and highly competitive

with relatively low barriers to entry in some segments

Within the business execution and Human Capital Management software market the most common type of

competitive solution consists of paper-based processes or desktop software tools that are not specifically

designed for performance and talent management We also face competition from custom-built software that is

designed to support the needs of single organization and from third-party human resource application

providers These software vendors include Automatic Data Processing mc Cornerstone OnDemand Inc

Halogen Software Inc Kenexa Corporation Oracle Corporation PeopleClick Authoria Plateau Systems Ltd
SAP AG Saba Software Inc StepStone Solutions SümTotalSystems Inc Taleo Corporation and Workday
Inc Our expanded product and feature offerings compete with those offered by other companiesincluding large

public companies such as Google IBMs Cognos Microsofts SharePoint Solutions and Salesforce.com and

smaller private companies such as Jive Software and Socialtext

We expect that the competitive landscape will change as the market for performance and talent management

software and services consolidates and matures

We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry include the following

breadth and depth of product functionality including the comprehensiveness of the solution

total cost of ownership and providing cost-effective benefits for cintomers

ability to enable customer success and promote high levels of user adoption

brand awareness and reputation

ease of deployment and use of solutions

level of integration configurability security scalability and reliability of solutions

ability to innovate and respond to customer needs rapidly
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ability to integrate with third-party applications and

the level of sales marketing and financial resources

We believe we compete favorably with respect to most of these factors However some of our competitors

and potential competitors have substantially greater name recognition longer operating histories larger

marketing budgets and significantly greater resources They may be able to devote greater resources to the

development promotion and sale of their products and services than we can to ours which could allow them to

respond more quickly and effectively to new technologies and changes in customer needs Additionally our

competitors may offer or develop products or services that are superior to ours or that achieve greater market

acceptance

Intellectual Property

We rely upon combination of patent copyright trade secret and trademark laws and contractual

restrictions such as confidentiality agreements and licenses to establish and protect our proprietary rights

Although we rely on patent copyright trade secret and trademark laws to protect our technology we believe that

factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel creation ofnew modules features and

functionalities and frequent enhancements to our solutions are more essential to establishing and maintaining

technology leadership position

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights .unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or obtain and

use our technology to develop products yith the same functionality as our solutions Policing unauthorized use of

our technology is difficult The laws of other countries in which we market our application suite mayoffer little

or no effective protection of our proprietary technology Our competitors could also independently develop

technologies equivalent to ours and our intellectual property rights may not be broad enough for us to prçvent

cornpetitors from selling products incorporating those technologies Reverse engineering unauthorize4 copying

or other misappropriation of our proprietary technology could enable third parties to benefit from our technology

witloUt paying us for it which would significantly harm our business

We expect hat software in our industry may be subject to third-party infringement claims as the number of

competitors grows
and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps Such competitors

could make claim of infringement against us with respect to our application suite and underlying technology

Third parties may currently have or may eventually be issued patents upon which our current solutions or future

technology infringe Any of these third parties might make claim of infringement against us at any time

Employees

We utilize our application suite to recruit and manage our team throughout our entire organization which

we believe has significantly helped us build team with superior skills coqipetencies and aptitude As of

December 31 2010 we had 1047 employees None of our employees is represented by labdr union or is

covered by collective bargaining agreement We consider our relations with our employees to be good

15



Executive Officers

The following table provides information regarding our executive officers and key employees as of

February 28 2011

Name Age Positions

Lars Dalgaard 43 Founder Chief Executive Officer and Director

Doug Dennerline 52 President

Bruce Felt Jr 52 Chief Financial Officer

Luen Au 37 Chief Technology Officer

Robert Block 47 Vice President Customer Results

Jeffrey Diana 39 Chief People Officer

Darryl Dickens 47 Chief Marketing Officer

James Larson 52 Vice President Field Operations

Hillary Smith 44 General Counsel

Lars Dalgaard founded SuccessFactors in May 2001 and has served as director our President until

November 2010 when Doug Dennerline joined and Chief Executive Officer since May 2001 From 1994 to

1998 Mr Dalgaard served in various general management positions at Unilever N.V global packaged

consumer and industrial goods company in the Netherlands Germany and Denmark Froth 1991 until 1993

Mr Dalgaard held various positions-at Novartis formerly known as Sandoz pharmaceutical company

including Sales Representative Product Manager and Corporate Finance Controller in the United States and

Switzerland Mr Dalgaard holds B.A from Copenhagen Business School Denmark and an M.S from Stanford

University Graduate School of Business as Sloan Fellow

Doug Dennerline has served as our President since November 2010 From August 2009 to May 2010

Mr Dennerline served as Executive Vice President of Enterprise Sales Americas and EMEA for Salesforce.com

Inc an on-demand customer relationship management company Prior to Salesforce.com from 1998 to August

2009 Mr Dennerline served in various capacities at Cisco Systems Inc networking company most recetitly

as Senior Vice President and General Manager of the Collaboration Software Group Prior to joining Cisco

Mr Dennerline worked in various sales and operations positions at 3Com Corporation Global Village

Communications Inc and Hewlett-Packard Company Mr DerinØrline holds B.S in Business Administration

from Arizona State University

Bruce Felt Jr has served as our Chief Financial Officer since October 2006 From February 2005

through August 2006 Mr Felt served as Chief Financial Officer of LANDesk Software Inc security and

systems management software company Subsequent to LANDesk acquisition by Avocent Corp in August

2006 Mr Felt was retained by Avocent through February 2007 to assist with transitional matters From April

1999 to February 2005 Mr Felt served as Chief Financial Officer of Integral Development Corporation an

on-demand software company Mr Felt holds B.S in accounting from the University of South Carolina and an

M.B.A from Stanford University Graduate School of Business

Luen Au has served as our Chief Technology Officer since February 2009 and was our Vice President

Engineering since September 2006 From May 2001 to September 2006 Mr Au served in number of

engineering roles at SuccessFactors including Director of Engineering and Senior Director of Engineering

Mr Au holds B.A in computer science from the University of Califomia Berkeley

Robert Block has served as our Vice President of Customer Results since November 2010 From

February 2010 to November 2010 he served as our Vice President of Professional Services From June 2009 to

January 2010 Mr Block was consultant to the Chief Operating Officer at InfoPrint Solutions From October

2002 to May 2009 Mr Block was Consulting Partner at IBM Global Business Services the strategic business

consulting arm of IBM and was focused primarily on designing large enterprise resoirce management or ERP
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and customer relationship management or CRM solutions for clients in the industrial sector From June 1997 to

October 2002 Mr Block was Consulting Partner at Pricewaterhouse Coopers and was primarily focused on

ERP and CRM projects From May 1988 to June 1997 Mr Block was in several non-partner consulting roles at

Pricewaterhouse Coopers Mr Block has B.A in business and accounting from the University of Washington

Jeffrey Diana has served as our Chief People Officer since December 2010 From September 2009 to

December 2010 Mr Diana served in consultant capacity as the Head of Business Development and Operations

at Protrainer Choice International medical devices company From October 2008 to April 2009 Mr Diana was

Chief Human Resources Officer at Expedia Inc an online travel company and from December 2006 to

September 2008 Mr Diana was Chief Human Resources Officer at Safeco Insurance Company From August

2005 to December 2006 Mr Diana held various human resources leadership roles at Microsoft Corporation and

from May 2000 to August 2005 he held various human resources leadership roles at General Electric Company

Mr Diana holds B.A in American studies from Tufts University and an M.A in sociology from University of

South Carolina

Darryl Dickens has served as our Chief Marketing Officer since September 2010 From January 2007 to

August 2010 Mr Dickens was Head of Marketing for Hewlett-Packard Companys Software and Solutions

Division in Asia Pacific and Japan From September 2003 to December 2006 Mr Dickens was Director of

Marketing for Asia for Mercury Interactive Corporation an enterprise software company until it was acquired in

2006 by Hewlett-Packard Mr Dickens holds B.A in economics from the University of Victoria

James Larson has served as our Vice President of Field Operations since November 2010 Vice President

of Global Enterprise and Mega Sales from May 2010 to November 2010 and Vice President of Global Enterprise

Sales from September 2007 to May 2010 From June 2000 to January 2007 Mr Larson served in various

positions at Mercury Interactive Corporation an enterprise software company most recently as Senior Vice

President of Worldwide Field Operations including following the acquisition of Mercury Interactive by Hewlett-

Packard Company Prior to Mercury Interactive Mr Larson held various sales and management positions at

various technology companies including Siebel Systems Inc and Oracle Corporation Mr Larson holds B.A

in economics from Harvard College and an M.B.A from the Anderson School of Management at the University

of California Los Angeles

Hillary Smith has served as our General Counsel since May 2010 From July 2007 to May 2010

Ms Smith was Associate General Counsel at Yahoo Inc an Internet search company and was the General

Counsel of Right Media an online exchange platform that was acquired by Yahoo in July 2007 from January

2007 to May 2010 From March 2000 to September 2005 Ms Smith was at DoubleClick Inc an Internet

advertising company initially as Deputy General Counsel and then as the Senior Vice President General

Counsel and Corporate Secretary Before joining DoubleClick Ms Smith was at Paul Weiss Rifkind Wharton

Garrison following clerkship with the Honorable Frederic Bloch in the U.S District Court for the Eastern

District of New York Ms Smith holds B.A in History from Montana State University and J.D from Cornell

Law School

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

You can access financial and other information at our Investor Relations website Our website is located at

www.successfactors.com/investor We make available free of charge on our web site our Annual Reports on

Form 10-K our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q our Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those

reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them with or furnish them to the SEC Information

contained on our web site is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or our other filings with the SEC
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The charters of our Audit Committee our Compensation Committee and our Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee as well as our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are available on the Investor

Relations section of our website under Corporate Governance This information is also available by writing to us

at the address on the cover of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 1A Risk Factors

Investing in oiir common stock involves high degree of risk You should consider carefully the risks and

uncertainties described below together with all of the other information in this report and our otherpublic

filings If any of the following risks actually occurs our business financial condition results of operations and

future prospects could be materially and adversely affected In that event the market price of our common stock

could decline and you could lose part or even all of your investment

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing us Other events that we do not

currently anticipate or that we currently deem immaterial also may affect our results of operations and financial

condition

We have history of losses and we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future

We have incurred losses in each fiscal period since our inception in 2001 We experienced net loss on

generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America GAAP basis of $12.5 million for

2010 At December 31 2010 we had an accumulated deficit of $231.3 million The losses and accumulated

deficit were due to the substantial investments we made to grow our business and acquire customers We still

expect to incur significant operating expenses in the future due to our investment in sales and marketing research

and development expenses operations costs expenses related to stock-based compensation and acquisition-

related charges arising from our acquisitions of Inform CubeTree and YouCalc and other future acquisitions we

may undertake Therefore we may continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future In pursuing acquisitions it

is also likely that our operating expenses
will increase Furthermore to the extent we are successful in increasing

our customer base we could also incur increased losses because costs associated with generating customer

agreements are generally incurred up front while revenue is generally recognized ratably over the term of the

agreement You should not consider our historic revenue growth as indicative of our future performance

Accordingly we cannot assure you that we will achieve profitability in the future or that if we do become

profitable we will sustain profitability

Because we recognize subscription and support revenue from our customers over the term of their

agreements downturns or upturns in sales may not be immediately reflected in our operating results

We recognize subscription and support revenue over the terms of our customer agreements which typically

range from one to three years with some up to five years As result most of our quarterly revenue results from

agreements entered into during previous quarters Consequently shortfall in demand for our application suite in

any quarter may not significantly reduce our subscription and support revenue for that quarter but could

negatively affect subscription and support revenue in future quarters In particular if such shortfall were to

occur in our fourth quarter it may be more difficult for us to increase our customer sales to recover from such

shortfall as we have historically entered into significant portion of our customer agreements during the fourth

quarter In addition we may be unable to adjust our cost structure to reflect this potential reduction in

subscription and support revenue Accordingly the effect of significant downturns in sales of our application

suite may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods Our subscription model also

makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our subscription and support revenue through additional sales in any

period as revenue from new customers must be recognized over the applicable subscription term

18



Because we recognize subscription and support revenue from our customers over the term of their

agreements but incur most costs associated with generating customer agreements up front rapid growth in

our customer base may result in increased losses

Because the expenses associated with generating customer agreements are generally incurred up front but

the resulting subscription and support revenue is recognized over the life of the customer agreement increased

growth in the number of customers may result in our recognition of more costs than subscription and support

revenue in the earlier periods of the terms of our agreements even though the customer is expected to be

profitable for us over the term of the agreement

Our business depends substantially on customers renewing their agreements and purchasing additional

-modules or users from us Any decline in our customer renewals would harm our future operating results

In order for us to maintain or improve our operating results it is important that our customers renew their

agreements with us when the initial contract term expires and also purchase additional modules or additional

users Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions after the initial subscription period and we

cannot assure you that customers will renew subscriptions at the same or higher level of service if at all

Although our renewal rates have been historically high some of our customers have elected not to renew their

agreements with us Moreover in some cases some of our customers have the right to cancel their agreements

prior to the expiration of the term

Our customers renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as result of number of factors including their

satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our application suite our customer support our pricing the prices of

competing products or services mergers and acquisitions affecting our customer base the effects of global

economic conditions or reductions in our customers spending levels If our customers do not renew their

s%ibscriptions renew on less favorable terms or fail to purchase additional modules or users our revenue and

billings may decline and we may not realize significantly improved operating results from our customer base

The market in which we participate is intensely competitive and if we do not compete effectively our

operating results could be harmed

the market for business execution applications is fragmented rapidly evolving and highly competitive with

relatively low bathers to entry in some segments Many of our competitors and pofential competitors are larger

and have greater name recognition much longer operating histories larger marketing budgets and significantly

greater resources than we do and with the introduction of new technologies and market entrants we expect

competition to intensify in the future If we fail to compete effectively our business will be harmed Some of our

principal competitors offer their products or services at lower price which has resulted in pricing pressures If

we are unable to achieve our target pricing levels our operating results would be negatively impacted In

addition pricing pressures and increased competition generally could resuli in reduced sales reduced margins

losses or the failure of our application suite to achieve or maintain more widespread market acceptance any of

which could harm our business

While we still face competition from paper-based processes and desktop software tools we also face

competition from custom-built software that is designed to support the needs of single organization and from

third-party human resources application providefs These software vendors include without limitation

Automatic Data Processing Inc Comerstone OnDemand Inc Halogen Software Inc Kenexa Corporation

Oracle Corporation PeopleClick Authoha Plateau Systems Ltd SAP AG Saba Software Inc StepStone

Solutions SumTotal Systems Inc Taleo Corporation and Workday Inc Our expanded product and feature

offerings compete with those offered by other companies including large public companies such as Google

IBMs Cognos Microsofts SharePoint Solutions and Salesforce.com and smaller private companies such as Jive

Software and Socialtext Competitive pressures may also increase with the consolidation of competitors within

our market such as the acquisition of Learn.com by Taleo Salary.com by Kenexa Ms Ted by StepStone and

Softscape and GeoLeaming Inc by SumTotal
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Many of our competitors are able to devote greater resources to the development promotion and sale of

their products and services In addition many of our competitors have established marketing relationships access

to larger customer bases and major distribution agreements with consultants system integrators and resellers

Moreover many software vendors could bundle products or offer them at low price as part of larger product

sale In addition some competitors may offer software that addresses one or limited number of business

execution functions at lower prices or with greater depth than our application suite As result our competitors

might be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities

technologies standards or customer requirements Further some potential customers particularly large

enterprises may elect to develop their own internal solutions For all of these reasons we may not be able to

compete successfully against our current and future competitors

We made three acquisitions in 2010 and expect to acquire other companies or technologies which could

divert our managements attention result in additional dilution to our stŁckholders increase expenses and

otherwise disrupt our operations and harm our operating results

We acquiredihree companies in 2010 and we expect to acquire or invest in other businesses products or

technologies that we believe could complement or expand our application suite enhance our technical

capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert.the attention

of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying investigating and pursuing suitable

acquisitions whether or not .they are consummated We cannot assure you that we will realize the anticipated

benefits of these acquisitions

There are inherent risks in integrating and managing corporate acquisitions and we have limited experience

with acquisitions If we acquire additional businesses we may not be able to integrate the acquired personnel

operations and technologies successfully or effectively manage the combined business following the acquisitidw

We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired business due to number of factoni

including

unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition

incurrence of acquisition-related costs which would be recognized as current period expense under

FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 805-20 Business combinations

diversion of managements attention from other business concerns

harm to our existing business relationships with business partners and custoners as result of the

acquisition

the potential loss of key employees

use of resources that are needed in other parts of our business and

use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition

In addition significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to

goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets which must be assessed for impainnent at least annually

Also contingent considerationsrelated to the acquisitions will be remeasured to fair value at each reporting

period with any changes in the value recorded as income or expense In the future if our acquisitions do not

yield expected returns we may be required to take charges to our operating results based on this impairment

assessment process which could harm our results of operations

Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt which

could adversely affect our operating results In addition if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations

our operating results business and financial condition may suffer
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If our security measures are breached or unauthorized access to customer data is otherwise obtained our

application suite may be perceived as not being secure customers may curtail or stop using our application

suite and we may incur significant liabilities

Our operations involve the storage and transmission of our customers data and security breaches could

expose us to risk of loss of this information litigation indemnity obligations and other liability While we have

administrative technical and physical security measures in place and we try to contractually require third parties

to whom we transfer data to have appropriate security measures if our security measures are breached as result

of third-party action employee error malfeasance or otherwise and as result someone obtains unauthorized

access to our customers data including personally identifiable information regarding users our reputation could

be damaged our business may suffer and we could incur significant liability Additionally third parties may

attempt to fraudulently induce employees or customers into disclosingsensitive information such as user names

passwords or other information in order to gain access to our customers data or our data including our

intellectual property and other confidential business information or our information technology systems We

may be exposed to greater risk of securitybreaches as result of our acquisitions because the acquired

businesses may use security measures and other systems that are different and less secure than ours- Because

techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not

recognized until launched against target we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement

adequate preventative measures If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs the market perception of

the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and we could lose potential sales and existing

customers

Because our application suite collects stores and reports personal information offob applicants and

employees privacy concerns could result in liability to us or inhibit sales of our application suite

Many federal state and foreign govemment bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting

laws and regulations regarding the collection use and disclosure of personal information In addition to

government regulation privacy advocacy and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory

standards that apply to us Because many of the features of our application suite collect store and report on

personal information any inability to adequately address privacy concerns even if unfounded or comply with

applicable privacy or data protection laws regulations and policies could result in liability to us damage our

reputation inhibit sales and harm our business

Furthermore the costs of compliance with and other burdens imposed by such laws regulations and

policies that are applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoptidn of our application

suite and reduce overall demand for it Privacy concerns whether or not valid may inhibit market adoption of

our application suite particularly in certain industries and foreign countries

Our organization continues to experience rapid changes If we fail to manage these changes effectively

we may be unable to execute our business plan maintain high levels of service or adequately address

competitive challenges

We continue to experience rapid changes in headcount and operations We grew from 188 employees at

December 31 2005 to 596 employees at December 31 2008 to 1047 employees at December 31 2010 and have

added additional members to our management team We increased the size of our customer base from 341

customers at December 31 2005 to approximately 2600 customers at December31 2008 to more than 3200

customers at December 31 2010 The growth in our customer base has placed and any future growth will place

significant strain on our management administrative operational legal and financial compliance infrastructure Our

success will depend in part on our ability to manage these changes effectively We will need to continue to improve

our operational financial and management controls and our reporting systems and procedures Failure to effectively

manage organizational changes could result in difficulty in implementing customers decljnes in quality or customer

satisfaction increases in costs difficulties in introducing new features or other operational difficulties and any of

these difficulties could adversely impact our business performance and results of operations
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Failure to adequately expand and ramp our direct sales force and develop and expand our indirect sales

channel will impede our growth

We plan to continue to invest in our sales and marketing infrastructure in order to grow our customer base

and our business We plan to continue to expand and ramp our direct sales force and engage additional third

party channel partners both domestically and internationally Identifying and recruiting these people and entities

and training them in the use of our application suite equires significant time expense and attention This

expansion will require us to invest significant financial and other resources We typically have no long-term

agreements or minimum purchase commitments with any of our channel partners and our agreements with these

channel partners do not prohibit them from offering products or services that compete with ours Our business

will be seriously harmed if our efforts to expand and ramp our direct sales force and expand our indirect sales

channels do not generate corresponding significant increase in revenue In particular if we are unable to hire

develop and retain talented sales personnel or if new direct sales personnel are unable to achieve desired

productivity levels in reasonable period of time we may not be able to significantly increase our revenue and

grow our business In addition if our channel partners increasingly offer products or services that compete with

ours or fail to become knowledgeable of our products or to provide adequate customer support this could impair

our ability to sell our products and harm our customer relationships and reputation

The market for our application suite depends on widespread adoption of business execution

Widespread adoption of our solutions depends on the widespread adoption of business execution by

organizations It is uncertain whether they will purchase software as service for this function Accordingly we

cannot assure you that software as service model for business execution will achieve and sustain the high

level of market acceptance that is critical for the success of our business

We have historically derived significant portion of our revenue from sales of our performance

management and goal management modules If these modules are not widely accepted by new customers our

operating results may be harmed

We have derived significant portion of our historical revenue from sales of our core Perfonnance

Management and Goal Management modules but the percentage of revenue from these modules lias decreased

over time as we have expanded our suite of products and customers have purchased additional modules If these

core modules do not remain competitive or if we experience pricing pressure or reduced demand for these

modules our future subscription and other revenue could be negatively affected which would harm our futurç

operating results

The market for software as service is at relatively early stage of development and if it does not

develop or develops more slowly than we expect our business will be harmed

The market for software as service is at relatively early stage relative to on-premise soluiions and these

applications may not achieve and sustain high levels of demand and market acceptance Our success will depend

on the willingness of organizations to increase their use of software as service Many companies have invested

substantial personnel and financial resources to integrate traditional enterprise software into their businesses and

therefore may be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to software as service We have encountered customers in

the past that have been unwilling to subscribe to our application suite because they could not install it on their

premises Other factors that may affect the market acceptance of software as service include

perceived security capabilities and reliability

perceived concerns about ability to scale operations for large enterprise customers

concerns with entrusting third party to store and manage critical employee data and

the level of configurability or customizability of the software.-
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If organizations do not perceive the benefits of software as service the market for our software may not

develop further or it may develop more slowly than we expect either of which would adversely affect our

business

Our quarterly results can fluctuate and if we fail to meet the expectations of analysts or investors our

stock price and the value of your investment could decline substantially

Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate as result of variety of factors many of which are outside of

our control If our quarterly financial results fall below the expectations of investors or any securities analysts

who follow our stock the price of our common stock could decline substantially Fluctuations in our quarterly

financial results may be caused by number of factors including but not limited to those listed below

our ability to attract new customers

customer renewal rates

the size and timing of customer orders

the extent to which customers increase or decrease the number of modules or users upon any renewal

of their agreements

th effects of changes in global economic conditions and announcements of economic data and

government initiatives to address the global economic downtum

the level of new customers as compared to renewal customers in particular period

the addition or loss of large customers including through acquisitions or consolidations

the mix of customers between small mid-sized and large enterprise customers

changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors

changes in currency exchange rates

seasonal variations in the demand for our application suite which has historically been highest in the

fourth quarter of the year

the amount and timing of operating expenses particularly sales and marketing related to the

maintenance and expansion of our business operations and infrastructure

the timing and success of new product and service introductions by us or our competitors or any other

change in the competitive dynamics of our industry including consolidation among competitors

customers or strategic partners

net.vork outages or security breaches

the timing of
expenses

related to the development or acquisition of technologies or businesses and

potential future charges for impairment of goodwill from acquired companies and

other general economic industry and market conditions

We believe that our quarterly results of operations including the levels of our revenue and changes in

deferred revenue may vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating

results may not be meaningful You should not rely on the results of any one quarter as an indication of future

performance In addition an increased emphasis on quarterly results may not result in our achievement of long

term business strategies
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The market for our application suite among large enterprise customers may be limited if they require

customized features or functions that we do not intend to provide

Prospective large enterprise customers may require customized features and functions unique to theft

business processes If prospective customers require customized features or functions that we do not offer then

the market for our application suite will be more limited among these types of customers and our business could

suffer In addition supporting large enterprise customers could require us to devote significant development

services and support personnel and strain our personnel resources and infrastructure If we are unable to address

the needs of these customers in timely fashion or further develop and enhance our application suite these

customers have in the past and may not renew their subscriptions seek to terminate their relationship ieiiew on

less favorable terms fail topurchase additional modules or additional users or assert legal claims against us If

any of these were to occur our revenue may decline and we may not realize significantly improved operating

results from our customer base

As more of our sales efforts are targeted at larger enterprise customers our sales cycle may become more

time-consuming and expensive we may encounter pricing pressure
and implementation challenges and we

may have to delay revenue recognition for some complex transactions all of which could harm our business

and operating results

As we target more of our sales efforts at larger enterprise customers we will face greater costs longer sales

cycles and lesspredictability in completing some of our sales Our quarterly results of operations also may vary

significantly depending on when we bomplete sales to these larger enterprise customeis For large enterprises

purchase decision may be an enterprise-wide decision and if so these types of sales would require us to provide

greater levels of education regarding the use and benefits of our service as well as education regarding our

compliance with applicable privacy and data protection laws and regulations to prospective customers with

intemational operations As result of these factors these sales opportunities may require us to devote greater

sales support and professional services resources to individual customers driving up costs and time required to

complete sales and diverting sales and professional services resources to smaller number of larger transactions

while potentially requiring us to delay revenue recognition on some of these transactions until the technical or

implementation requirements have beep met

We depend on our management team particularly our ChiefExecutive Officer our President and our

key sales and development personnel and the lass of one or more key employees or groups could harm our

business and prevent us from implementing our busihess plan in timely manner

Our success depends on the expertise and continued services of our executive officers particularly our Chief

Executive Officer and our President We have in the past and may in the future continue to experience changes in

our executive management team resulting from the hiring or departure of executives which may be disruptive to

our business We are also substantially dependent on the continued service of our existing development personnel

because of their familiarity with the inherent complexities of our application suite and technologies

Many of our personnel do not have employment arrangements that require these personnel to continue to

work for us for any specified period and therefore they could tetminate their employment with us at any time

We do not maintain key person life insurance policies oh an of our employees The loss of one or more of our

key employees or groups could seriously harm our buiness

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow we could lose the innovation teamwork pasion
and focus on execution that we believe coniribute to our success and our business may be harmed

We believe that critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture which we believe fosters

innovation teamwork passion for customers and focus on execution As we grow and change we may find it

difficult to maintain these important aspects of our corporate culture Any failure to preserve our culture could

also negatively affect our ability to retain and recruit personnel continue to perform at current levels or otherwise

adversely affect our future success
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Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties

We anticipate that we will continue to depend on various third-party relationships in order to grow our

business In addition to growing our indirect sales channels we intend to pursue
additional relationships with

other third parties such as technology and content providers and implementation partners Identifying partners

negotiating and documenting relationships with them require significant time and resources as does integrating

third-party content and technology Our agreements with technology and content providers are typically

non-exclusive and do not prohibit them from working with our competitors or from offering competing services

Our competitors may be effective in providing incentives to third parties including our partners to favor their

products or services or to prevent or reduce subscriptions to our application suite either by disrupting our

relationship with existing customers or by limiting our ability to win new customers In addition global

economic conditions could adversely affect the businesses of our partners and it is possible that they may not be

able to devote the additional resources we expect to the relationship If we are unsuccessful in establishing or

maintaining our relationships with these third parties our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our

revenue could be impaired and our operating results would suffer Even if we are successful we cannot assure

you that these relationships will result in increased customer usage of our application suite or revenue

We rely on small number of third-party service providers to host and deliver our application suite and

any interruptions or delays in services from these third parties could impair the delivery of our application

suite and harm our business

We currently host our application suite from eight data centers worldwide We do not control the operation

of these facilities These facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters fires power

loss teleconmumications failures and similar events They are also subject to break-ins computer viruses

sabotage intentional acts of vandalism and other misconduct The occurrence of natural disaster or an act of

terrorism decision to close the facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems could result in

lengthy interruptions which would have serious adverse impact on our business Additionally otir data center

agreements are of limited duration and are subject to early termination rights in certain circumstances and the

providers of our data centers have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable

tenns or at all

As we continue to add data centers and add capacity in our existing data centers we may transfer data to

other locations Despite precautidnstalcen during this process any unsuccessful data transfers may impair the

delivery of our service Interruptions in our service or data loss or corruption may cause customers to terminate

their agreements and adversely affect our renewal rates and our ability to attract new customers Data transfers

may also subject us tQ regional privacy and data protection laws that apply to the transmission of customer data

across intemational borders

We also depend on access to the Intemet through third-party bandwidth providers to operate our business If

we lose the setvices of one or more of our bandwidth providers or if these providers experience outages for any

reason we cOqld experience disruption in delivering our applicaiion suite or we could be required to retain the

services of replacement bandwidth provider

Our operations also rely heavily on the availability of electricity which also comes from third-party

providers If we or the third-party data center facilities that we use to deliver our services were to experience

major power outage or if the cost of electricity were to increase significantly our operations and financial results

could be harmed If we or our third-party data centers were to experience major power outage we or they

would have to rely on back-up generators which might not work properly or might not provide an adequate

supply during major power outage Such power outage could result in significant disruption of our business
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If our application suite becomes unavailable or otherwise fails to perform properly our reputation and

customer relationships could be harmed our market share could decline and we could be subject to liability

claims

The software used in our application suite is inherently complex and may contain material defects or errors

Any defects in product functionality or that cause interruptions in the availability of our application suite could

result in

lost or delayed market acceptance and sales

breach of warranty or other contract breach or misrepresentation claims

sales credits or refunds to our customers

loss of customers

diversion of development and customer seivice resources and

injury to our reputation

The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors might be substantial and could adversely

affect our operating results

Because of the large amount of data that we collect and manage it is possible that hardware failures or

errors in our systems could result in data loss or corruption or cause the information that we collect to be

incomplete or contain inaccuracies that our customers regard as significant Furthermore the availability of our

application suite could be interrupted by number of factors including customers inability to access the

Internet the failure of our network or software systems due to human or other error security breaches or

variability in user traffic for our application suite We may be required to issue credits or refunds or indemnify or

otherwise be liable to our customers or third parties for damages they may incur resulting from certain of these

events In addition to potential liability if we experience interruptions in the availability of our application suite

our reputation could be harmed and we could lose customers

Our errors and omissions insurance may be inadequate or may not be available in the future on acceptable

terms or at all In addition our policy may not cover any claim against us for loss of data or other indirect or

consequential damages and defending suit regardless of its merit could be costly and divert managements

attention

We rely on third-party computer hardware and software that may be difficult to replace or which could

cause errors or failures of our service

We rely on computer hardware pl3rchased or leased and software licensed from third parties in order to

deliver our application suite This hardware and software may not continue to be available on commercially

reasonable terms or at all Any loss of the right to use any of this hardware or software could result in delays in

our ability to provide our application suite until equivalent technology is either developed by us or if available

identified obtained and integrated which could harm our business In addition errors or defects in third-party

hardware or software used in our application suite could result in errors or failure of our application suite

which could harm our business

If we are not able to develop enhancements and new features that achieve market acceptance or that keep

pace with technological developments our business could be harmed

Our ability to attract new customers and increase revenue from existing customers depends in large part on

our ability to enhance and improve our existing application suite and to introduce new features The success of

any enhancement or new product depends on several factors including timely completion adequate quality

testing introduction and market acceptance Any new feature or module that we develop or acquire may not be
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introduced in timely or cost-effective manner contain defects or may not achieve the broad market acceptance

necessary to generate significant revenue If we are unable to successfully develop or acquire new features or

modules or to enhance our existing application suite to meet customer requirements our business and operating

results will be adversely affected

Because we designed our application suite to operate on variety of network haidware and software

platforms using standard Internet tools and protocols we will need to continuously modify and enhance our

application suite to keep pace with changes in Internet-related hardware software communication browser and

database technologies If we are unable to respond in timely manner to these rapid technological developments

in cost-effective manner our application suite may become less marketable and less competitive or obsolete

and our operating results may be negatively impacted

If we fail to develop widespread brand awareness cost-effectively our business may suffer

We believe that developing and maintaining widespread awareness of our brand in cost-effective manner

is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our application suite and attracting new customers Brand

promotion activities may not generate customer awareness or increase revenue and even if they do any increase

in revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand If we fail to successfully promote and

maintain our brand or incur substantial expenses we may fail to attract or retain customers necessary to realize

sufficient return on our brand-building efforts or to achieve the widespread brand awareness that is critical for

broad customer adoption of our aiplicatioæ suite

Because our long-term success depends in part on our ability to expand the sales of our application suite

to customers located outside of the United States our business will be susceptible to risks associated with

international operations

key element of our growth strategy is to expand our international operations and develop worldwide

customer base We have added employees offices and customers internationally particularly in Europe Asia and

Australia Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and will

subject us to regulatory economic and political risks and competition that are different from those in the United

States Because of our limited experience with international operations we cannot assure that our international

expansion efforts will be successful or that returns on such investments will be achieved in the future

In addition our international operations may fail to succeed due to other risks inherent in operating

businesses internationally including

our lack of familiarity with commercial and social norms and customs in international countries which

may adversely affect our ability to recruit retain and manage employees in these countries

difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations

the potential diversion of managements attention to oversee and direct operations that are

geographically distant from our U.S headquarters

compliance with multiple conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations including

employment tax privacy and data protection laws and regulations

legal systems in which our ability to enforce and protect our rights may be different or less effective

than in the United States and in which the ultimate result of dispute resolution is more difficult to

predict

greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable and longer payment cycles

higher employee costs and difficulty in terminating non-performing employees

differences in work place cultures
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unexpected changes in regulatory requirements

the need to adapt our application suite for specific countries

our ability to comply with differing technical and certification requirements outside the United States

tariffs export controls and other non-tariff barriers such as quotas and local content rules

more limited protection for intellectual property rights in some countries

adverse tax consequences

fluctuations in currency exchange rates

restrictions on the transfer of funds and

new and different sources of competition

Our failure to manage any of these risks successfully could harm our existing and future international

operations and seriously impair our overall business

Because competition for our target employees is intense we may not be able to attract and retain the

quality employees we need to support our planned growth

Our future success will depend to significant extent on our ability to attract and retain high quality

personnel Despite the economic downturn competition for qualified management technical and other personnel

is intense and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel If we fail to attract and retain

qualified employees our ability to grow our business could be harmed

Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary

technology and our brand

Our success and ability to compete depend in.part upon our intellectual property We primarily rely on

copyright trade secret and trademark laws trade secret protection and confidentiality or license agreements with

our employees customers partners and others to protect our intellectual property rights and to lesser extent

patents However the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may be inadequate or we may be

unable to secure intellectual property protection for all of our products and services

In order to protect our intellectual property rights we may be required to spend significant resources to

monitor and protect these rights Litigation to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly

time-consuming and distracting to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our

intellectual property Furthermore our efforts to enforce our intelleztual property rights mast be met with

defenses counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property

rights Our failure to secure protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could seriously harm our brand

and adversely impact our business

We may be sued by thi rd parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights

There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our industry Our

success depends upon our not infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others Our competitors as well

as number of other entities and individuals may own or claim to own intellectual property relating to our

industry From time to time third parties may claim that we are infringing upon their intellectual property rights

and we may be found to be infringing upon such rights In the future we may receive claims that our application

suite and underlying technology infringe or violate the claimants intellectual property rights However we may
be unaware of the intellectual property rights of others that may cover some or all of our technology or

application suite Any claims or litigation could cause us to incur significant.expenses and if successfully
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asserted against us could require that we pay substantial damages or ongoing royalty payments prevent us from

offering our services or require that we comply with other unfavorable terms We may also be obligated to

indemnify our customers or business partners in connection with any such litigation and to obtain licenses

modify products or refund fees which could further exhaust our resources In addition we may pay substantial

settlement costs to resolve claims or litigation whether or not legitimately or successfully asserted against us

which could include royalty payments in connection with any such litigation and to obtain licenses modify

products or refund fees which could further exhaust our resources Even if we were to prevail in the event of

claims or litigation against us any claim or litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and

time-consuming and divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations

Our use of open source and third-party technology could impose limitations on our ability to

commercialize our application suite

We use open source software in our application suite Although we try to monitor our use of open source

software the terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by United States courts and there is

risk that such licenses could be construed in manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our

ability to market our application suite In such event we could be required to seek licenses from third parties in

order to continue offering our application suite to re-engineer our technology or to discontinue offering our

application suite in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on timely basis any of which could cause

us to breach contracts harm our reputation result in customer losses or claims increase our costs or otherwise

adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition We also incorporate certain third-party

technologies into our application suite and may desire to incorporate additional third-party technologies in the

future Licenses to new third-party technology may not be available to us on commercially reasonable terms hr

at all

Changes in laws and/or regulations related to the Internet or changes in the Internet infrastructure itself

may cause our business to suffer

The future success of our business depends upon the continued use of the Intemet as primary medium for

commerce cpmmunication and business applications Federal state or foreign govemment bodies or agencies

have in the past adopted and may in the future adopt laws or regulations affecting data privacy and the use of

the Intemet as commercial medium In addition govemment agencies or private organizations may begin to

impose taxes fees or other charges for accessing the Intemet or commerce conducted via the Intemet These laws

or charges could limit the growth of Internet-related commerce or communications generally result in decline

in the use of the Intemet and the viability of Intemet-based applications such as ours and reduce the demand for

our application suite

The Intemet has experienced and is expected to continue to experience significant user and traffic growth

which has at timei caused user frustration with slow access and download times If the Intemet infrastructure is

unable to support the demands placed on it or if hosting capacity becomes scarce our business growth may be

adversely affected

Uncertainty in global economic conditions may adversely affect our business operating results or

financial condition

Our operations and performance depend on global economic conditions Challenging or uncertain economic

conditions make it difficult for our customers and potential customers to accurately forecast and plan future

business activities and may cause our customers and potential customers to slow or reduce spending on our

application suite Furthermore during challenging or uncertain economic times our customers may face

difficulties gaining timely access to sufficient credit and experience decreasing cash flow which could impact

their willingness to make purchases and their ability to make timely payments to us Global economic conditions

have in the past and could continue to have an adverse effect on demand for our application suite including new
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bookings and renewal and upsell rates on our ability to predict future operating results and on our financial

condition and operating results If global economic conditions remain uncertain or deteriorate it may materially

impact our business operating results and financial condition

Our business is subject to changing regulations regarding corporate governance and public disclosure

that will increase both our costs and the risk of noncompliance

As public company we incur significant legal accounting and other expenses In addition the Sarbanes

Oxley Act the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and rules subsequently

implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Market have imposed variety of requirements and

restrictions on public companies including requiring changes in corporate governance practices In addition the

SEC and Congress are considering additional significant corporate governance-related rules Our management

and other personnel will need to devote substantial amount of time to these new compliance initiatives

Moreover these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some

activities more time-consuming and costly Our failure to adequately comply could subject us to liability costly

regulatory or other investigations claims or litigation

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse unexpected financial

reporting fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations

change in accounting-standards or practices can have significant effect on our reported results and may

even affect pur reporting of transactions completed before the change is effective New accounting

pronouncements and varying interpretations of accounting pronouncements.have occurred and may occur in the

future For instance our revenue recognition policies are complex and require us to apply criteria and make

judgments that affect the amounts we report in our financial statements We make judgments based on historical

experience and various other estimates and assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the

circumstances However changes to existing rules or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect

our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business

If there are substantial sales of shares of our common stock the price of our common stock could

decline

As of December 31 2010 we had approximately 77.1 million shares of common stock outstanding

Substantially all of our outstanding shares of common stock are freely tradable subject to volume and other

limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act in the case of stockholders who are our affiliates The price

of our common stock could decline if there are substantial sales of our common stock or if there is large

number of shares of our common stock available for sale

If securities or industry analysts publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business our

stock price and trading volume could decline

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or

industry analysts publish about us or our business In the event one or more of the analysts who cover us

downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business our stock price would

likely decline If one or more of these analysts cease coverage
of our company or fail to publish reports on us

regularly demand for our stock could decrease which might cause our stock price and trading volume to decline

The market price of our common stock is likely to be volatile and could decline

Stock markets in general and the market for technology-related stocks in particular have been highly

volatile As result the market price of our stock is likely to be similarly volatile and investors in our stock may

experience decrease in the value of their stock including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or

prospects
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Delaware law and provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws could make

merger tender offer or proxy contest difficult which could depress the trading price of our common stock

We are Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law may discourage delay or

prevent change of control by prohibiting us from engaging in business combination with an interested

stockholder for period of tMee years after the person becomes an interested stockholder even if change of

control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders In addition our restated certificate of incorporation and

restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult without the

approval
of our Board of Directors including the following

our Board of Directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms

only our Chairperson of the Board of Directors our Chief Executive Officer our President or

majority of our Board of Directors are authorized to call special meeting of stockholders

our stockholders can only take action at meeting of stockholders and not by written consent

vacancies on our Board of Directors can be filled only by our Board of Directors and not by our

stockholders

our restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock the terms of which

may be established and shares of which may be issued without stockholder approval and

advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to

bring matters before an annual meeting of stockholders

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable

Item Properties

We currently lease approximately 58700 square feet of space for use as our headquarters including

operations and research and development activities located in San Mateo California The lease for this space

expires in December 2014

We operate eight data centers worldwide Our primary data center is located in Chandler Arizona The

hosting agreement for this facility expires in June 2011 Two additional data centers are located in Secaucus

New Jersey and Newark Delaware The hosting agreements for these facilities expire in September 2011 and

October 2011 respectively The Delaware data center is currently inactive In addition we operate two data

centers in Amsterdam The Netherlands The hosting agreement for these facilities expires in August 2011 There

are two additional data centers in Australia one in Brisbane residing in our offices in Brisbane and one in

Sydney for which the hosting agreement expires in October 2012 In addition we have non-production data

center in Beijing China for which the hosting agreement is on month-to-month basis

We also lease space in various locations throughout the United States for local sales and professional

services personnel Our foreign subsidiaries lease office space for their operations including their local sales and

professional services personnel

We believe that our current offices and facilities are adequate to meet our requirements for the foreseeable

future
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Item Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are involved in variety of claims suits investigations and proceedings arising from

the ordinary course of our business including actions with respect to intellectual property claims breach of

contract claims labor and employment claims tax and other matters Although claims suits investigations and

proceedings are inherently uncertain and their results cannot be predicted with certainty we believe that the

resolution of our current pending matters will not have material adverse effect on our business consolidated

financial position results of operations or cash flow Regardless of the outcome litigation can have an adverse

impact on us because of defense costs diversion of management resources and other factors In addition it is

possible that an unfavorable resolution of one or more such proceedings could in the future materially and

adversely affect our financial position results of operations or cash flows in particular period

Item Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for the Regis trants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market for Our Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol SFSF since

November 20 2007 Since January 2011 our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ Global Select

Market The following table summarizes the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported by The

NASDAQ Stock Market for the period indicated

Fiscal Year 2010 Quarters Ended High Low

March3l2010 $20.93 $15.07

June3O20l0 23.68 18.51

September3o2010 26.51 19.12

December3l2010 31.75 24.33

Fiscal Year 2009 Quarters Ended High Low

March 31 2009 8.00 4.92

June30 2009 10.50 7.15

September 30 2019 14.63 8.27

December3l2009 17.49 13.61

As of February 28 2011 we had approximately 61 stockholders of record although we believe there are

more beneficial owners

STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph shows the total stockholder return of an investment of $100 in cash on November 20
2007 through December 31 2010 the last date of trading of fiscal 2010 for our common stock Morgan

Stanley Technology Index and the NASDAQ Composite Index No cash dividends have been declared on

shares of our common stock Stockholder returns over the indicated period are based on historical data and are

not necessarily indicative of future stockholder returns

250

SUCC000FACT000 MORGAN STANLEY TECHNOLOGY NASDAQ

November 20 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2007 2007 2008 2009 2010

SuccessFactors $100.00 89.21 $43.32 $125.13 $218.57

Morgan Stanley Technology Index $100.00 $102.83 $56.30 95.50 $109.72

NASDAQ Composite Index $100.00 $102.14 $60.73 87.38 $102.16
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The information contained in the performance graph shall not be deemed to be soliciting material or

filed with the SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended the Exchange Act except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into

document filed under the Securities Act of 1933 ns amended the Securities Act or the Exchange Act

The trading prices of the securities of technology companies have been and are expected to continue to be

highly volatile The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous

factors many of which are beyond our control including

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market

changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies

generally or those in our industry in particular

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results

the financial projections we may provide to the public any changes in these projections or our failure

to meet these projections

changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow our company our failure to meet

these estimates or failure of those analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our stock

rating downgrades by any sçcurities analysts who follow our company

announcements by us or our competitors of significant technical innovations acquisitions strategic

partnerships joint ventures or capital commitments

the publics response to our pres releases or other public announcements including our filings with

the SEC

market conditions or trends in our industry or the economy as whole

the loss of key personnel

lawsuits threatened or filed against us

future sales of our common stock by our executive officers directors and significant stockholders and

other events or factors including those resulting from war incidents of terrorism or responses to these

events

In addition the stock markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected

and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many technology companies Stock prices of many

technology companies have fluctuated in manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of

those companies In the past stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following decline in

stock price If we were to become involved in securities litigation it could subject us to substantial costs divert

resources and the attention of management from our business and adversely affect our business operating results

and financial condition
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31 2010

All outstanding awards relate to our common stock

Number of

Securities Remaining
Available for Future

Number of Weighted-average Issuances Under

Securities to be Issued Exercise Price of Equity Compensation

Upon Exercise of Outstanding Plans Excluding

Outstanding Options Options Warrants Securities Reflected

Plan Category Warrants and Rights1 and Rights2 in Column

Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders1 10580 $10.50 5208

Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders

Total 10580 $10.50 5208

Prior to our initial public offering we issued securities under our 2001 Stock Option Plan Following our

initial public offering we issued securities under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan 2007 Plan and we may
issue stock awards including but not limited to restricted stock awards restricted stock units stock bonus

awards stock appreciation rights arid performance share awards under this plan The 2007 Plan contains

provision that the number of shares available for grant and issuance will be increased on January of each

of 2009-2017 by an amount equal to 5% of our shares outstanding on the immediately preceding

December 31 unless our Board of Directors in its discretion determines to make smaller increase

The weighted average
exercise price does not reflect the shares that will be issued upon issuance of common

stock under RSUs

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock We currently intend to retain any future

earnings and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future Any future determination to pay

dividends on our capital stock will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our financial

condition results of operations capital requirements and other factors that our Board of Directors considers

relevant

Use of Proceeds

The Form S-i Registration Statement Registration No 333-144758 relating to our IPO was declared

effective by the SEC on November 19 2007 and the offering commenced November 19 2007 As of

December 31 2010 we used approximately $40.5 million of the proceeds from this offering for working capital

We expect to use the remaining net proceeds of this offering for general corporate purposes including working

capital and potential capital expenditures and acquisitions

Our management will retain broad discretion in the allocation and use of the net proceeds of this offering

and investors will be relying on the judgment of our management regarding the application of the net proceeds

Pending specific utilization of the net proceeds as described above we have invested the net proceeds of the

offerings in short-term interest-bearing obligations investment grade securities certificates of deposit or direct

or guaranteed obligations of the United States The goal with respect to the investment of the net proceeds is

capital preservation and liquidity so that such funds are readily available to fund our operations
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Item Selected Financial Data

We derived the statements of operations data for the years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and

the balance sheet data as of December 31 2010 and 2009 from our audited consolidated financial statements and

related notes which axe included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K We derived the statementS of

operations data for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 from our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes which are not included

in this Annual Report The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future

operations is qualified by reference to and should be read in conjunction with Item Managements

Disdussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial

statements and related notes thereto included in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data in

thousands except per share data
Total revenue

Total cost of revenue

Gross profit

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

_______ _______ _______ 5259 249

75029 32004

________ _______ _______
425 42

________ ________ ________
75454 $32046

_______ _______ _______ 8.35 13.39

Shares used in computing net loss
per common share

basic and diluted 73939 59534 53803 9036 2393

Includes stock-based compensation expenses as follows

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Costofrevenue 2826 1417 $1053 448 94

Safes and marketing 8300 4451 4O84 2269 351

Research and development 3742 1354 1099 512 77

General and administrative 7170 3195 2368 1189 295

$22038 $10417 $8604 $4418 $817

Interest income expense and other net in 2007 included $2.5 million expense related to the fair value

adjustment of convertible preferred stock warrants through the date of our Initial Public Offering and

$1.9 million expense for amortization of debt issuance costs related to warrant issued to lender

4954

1414 810 1780

11207 11312 64188

1243 1322 764

12450 12634 64952

0.17 0.21 1.21

$205926 $153054

56491 35323

149435 117731

$111913 63350 32570

38836 26341 14401

7307-7 37009 18169

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Revaluation of contingent consideration

Gain on settlement of litigation net

Total operating expenses

99051 80431 921-87 70963 32317

39892 24427 23085 16725 10622

35941 24995 24744 19091 7483

7874
971

_______

167010 129853 139045 106779 50422

17575 12122 65968 69770 32253Loss from operations

Unrealized foreign exchange gain on intercompany

loan

Interest income expense and other net2

Loss before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss
per common share basic and diluted
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As of December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data in thousands

Cash cash equivalents and marketable securities $356457 $323247 $102364 90787 2617
Working capital deficit 184803 209571 3882 25871 5087
Total assets 577413 408697 170426 154544 60744

Deferred revenue current and long-term 234445 181624 149798 101010 52354

Long-term debt 9711

Convertible preferred siock warrant liability 1496

Convertible preferred stock 45289

Total stockholders equity deficiuj 271329 202503 5376 19943 64095
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is

intended to facilitate an understanding of our business and results of operations You should read the following

discussion and analysis of our financial condition in conjunction with the consoiidated financial statements and

notes thereto for the year ended December 31 2010 included in Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement

Schedules in this Annual Report on Form 10-K The information contained in this discussion and analysis or

set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including without limitation information with respect to

our plans and strategy of our business and our financial condition includes forward-looking statements within

the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Such statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and

uncertainties You should review the section titled Risk Factors included in Item JA of Part of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K for discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to dWer materially

from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion

and analysis

Overview

SuccessFactors provides cloud-based Business Execution BizX software that enables organizations to

bridge the gap between business strategy and results Our goal is to enable organizations to substantially increase

employee productivity worldwide by enhancing our existing People Performance solutions with Business

Alignment solutions to enable customers to achieve business results Our integrated application suite includes the

following modules and capabilities Performance Management Goal Management Compensation Management
Succession Management Career and Development Planning Recmiting Management Employee Central

Analytics and Reporting CubeTree Social Collaboration Employee Profile 360-Degree Review Employee

Survey Calibration Team Rater and proprietary and third-party content We deliver our application suite to

organizations of all sizes across all industhes and geographies Our suite which is delivered through the cloud

improves business alignment team execution and people performance to drive results for companies of all sizes

Across 168 counthes and 34 languages more than million users and more than 3200 companies leverage our

application suite every day up from approximately 300000 users and 100 companies in 2003

We generate sales primarily through our global direct sales organization and to much lesser extent

indirectly through channel partners with sales through channel partners constituting approximately 5% of

revenue for the year ended December 31 2010 However in the future we anticipate that revenue from channel

partners will increase For the year ended December 31 2010 we did not have any single customer that

accounted for more than 5% of our total revenue We target our sales and marketing efforts at large enterprises as

well as small and mid-sized organizations

Historically most of our revenue has been from sales of our application suite to organizations located in the

United States For the year ended December 31 2010 customers in the United States accounted for 78% of our

total revenue We intend to continue to grow our intemational business and acquired Inform Business Impact

Inform which is based in Australia Accordingly we expect the percentage of our revenue generated outside

of the United States to continue to increase

We generally invoice our customers on an annual basis even if the term of the subscription agreement is

longer than one year Amounts that have been invoiced but that have not yet been recognized as revenue are

typically recorded as deferred revenue Accordingly total contract value not yet invoiced is not reflected on our

consolidated balance sheet as deferred revenue but instead is treated as backlog

For agreements with term of more than one year backlog initially represents the future subscription fee

commitments that are payable more than one year after the initial invoice for the first 12 months of service

When
subsequent invoice for the succeeding 12 months of service is sent to customer the amount invoiced
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then is reflected in our deferred revenue with the backlog amount decreasing by like amount Also excluded

from backlog are fees for our other services such as configuration services which are reflected as current

deferred revenue for the amount expected to be recogniied within the following 12 months and non current

deferred revenue for the remainder As of December 31 2010 we had backlog of approximately $183.1 million

compared with backlog of approximately $143.1 million as of December 31 2009 due largely to the increased

number of new customers Because revenue for any period is function of revenue recognized from deferred

revenue and backlog under contracts in existence at the beginning of the period as well as contract renewals and

new customer contracts during the period backlog as of any date is not necessarily indicative of future

performance Our presentation of backlog bay differ from other companies in our industry

We have historically experienced significant seasonality in sales of subscriptions to our application suite

with higher percentage of our customers renewing or entering into new subscription agreements in the fourth

quarter of the year Also significant percentage of our customer agreements within given quarter are

generally entered into during the last month of the quarter We have derived significant portion of our historical

revenue from sales of our Performance Management and Goal Management modules but the percentage of

revenue from these modules has decreased over time as we have expanded our suite of products and customers

have purchased additional modules

We believe the market for BizX software is large and underserved Accordingly we might incur additional

operating expenses particularly for sales and marketing and professional services activities to pursue this

opportunity and in research and developthent to develop new products We expect operating lossS to continue

but at lower rates as we intend to continue to pursue new customers develop new products and acquire or invest

in businesses products or technologies that we believe could complement or expand our application suite and

enhance our technical capabilities

While we have experienced strong growth in revenues in recent periods global economic conditions remain

uncertain with the United States and many other countries experiencing slow overall growth in 2009 and 2010

This weakening of overall global economic conditions has affected customer demand for our software and

services In 2011 we believe we could possibly see an improvement in customer demand If this demand

materializes we could experience billings growth in comparison to what we experienced in 2010 However due

to the ratable nature of our revenue stream 2011 revenue will be strongly influenced by customer activity that

occurred in 2010 As result we expect revenue growth to continue in 2011 but most likely ata slower rate than

the growth we experienced in 2019 even if customer demand improves

Beginning in the third quarter of 2010 we adopted new accounting standard Accounting Standards

Update No 2009-13 or ASU 2009-13 for arrangements with multiple deliverables which had the effect of

increasing revenue by $12.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 including the effects of retrospective

application of the new standard to our revenues for the first and second quarters of 2010 to conform all

arrangements entered into or materially modified after January 2010 to the new accounting standard Prior to

adopting ASU 2009-13 we accounted for subscription and professional services deliverables of contract as one

unit of accounting with the entire arrangement fee recognized ratably over the contract term because historically

we were not able to establish vendor specific objective evidence VSOE of fair value for each deliverable Upon

adoption of ASU 2009-13 we began separately accounting for and allocating revenu to subscription and

professional services deliverables of contract using our best estimated selling price to recognize revenue when

the basic revenue recognition criteria for each deliverable are met ASU 2009-13 impacted our subscription

revenue by allowing earlier commencement of revenue recognition upon delivery of specific subscription

deliverables of contract instead of upon delivery of all deliverables as required under the previous accounting

guidance and impacted professional services revenue by allowing earlier recognition of revenue upon

completion of work instead of ratably over the contracted term of the subscription agreement generally one to

thee years We however continue to recognize revenue on all professional services contracts entered into prior

to January 2010 ratably over the associated subscription term
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We completed the following acquisitions during 2010

On July 2010 we acquired Inform provider of business analytics and workforce planning software

for $25.6 million in cash and 906892 shares of common stock valued at approximately $12.9 million of which

371372 shares are held in escrow plus performance related earn-out payments with fair value of $5.3 million

This acquisition was not considered material to us

On July 13 2010 we acquired YouCalc provider of real-time analytibs and reporting software for $3.2

million in cash plus uarn-out payments in shares of common stock with fair value of $1.5 million This

acquisition was not considered material to us

On July 20 2010 we acquired CubeTree provider of social media and collaboration software for

903733 shares of common stock valued at approximately $18.9 million of whichTl 90511 shares are held in

escrow plus future contingent cash payment with fair value of $27.8 million This acquisition was deemed to

be the acquisition of significant business as defined under Regulation S-X

The acquisitions completed in the third quarter of 2010 did not significantly contribute to our revenues for

the year ended December 31 2010 primarily due to the ratable nature of the revenues

Sources of Revenue

We generate revenue from subscription fees for our software and support and fees for the provision of

professional services Our subscription agreements are noncancelable though customers typically have the right

to terminate their agreements for cause if we materially fail to perform During 2009 and through 2010 our

customer retention rate was greater than 90% We calculate our customer retention rate by subtracting our

attrition rate from 100% We calculate our attrition rate for period by dividing the number of customers lost

during the period by the sum of the number of customers at the beginning of the period and the number of new

customers acquired during the period Although historically there has been very little variability in our retention

rates any decrease in our retention rates could negatively impact our results of operations in future periods

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs related to delivering our professional ervices hosting our

application suite and on-going customer support These costs include salaries benefits bonuses and stock-based

compensation of our data center professional services and customer support staff outside service provider costs

data center and networking expenses third party royalty and referral costs and allocated overhead and

depreciationexpenses We allocate overhead such as rent information technology costs and employee benefits

costs to all departments based on relative headcount As such general overhead expenses are reflected in cost of

revenue and each operating expense category The costs associated with providing professional services are

significantly higher as percentage of revenue than the costs associated with delivering our application suite due

to the labor costs associated with providingprofessional services Our cost of revenue as percentage of total

revenue decreased during 2008 and 2009 and increased in 2010 primarily due to amortization of intangibles

related to acquisitions Our cost of revenueas percentage of total revenue was 35% in 2008 23% in 2009 and

27% in 2010 We expect that in the future cost of revenue may increase depending on the growth rate of our new

bookings and our need to support the implementation hosting and support of those new bookings We also

expect that cost of revenue as percentage of total revenue could fluctuate from period to period depending on

growth of our professional services business and any associated costs relating to the delivery of professional

services the tiimng of sales of products that have royalty and referrals associated with them the amount and

timing of amortization of intangibles from acquisitions and the timing of significant expenditures To the extent

that our customer base grows we intend to continue to invest additional resources in expanding.the delivery

capability of our application suite and other services The timing of these additional expenses could affect our

cost of revenue both in terms of absolute dollars and as percentage of total revenue in any particular quarterly

or annual period
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Operating Expenses

We claisify our operating ekpenses as follows

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses for

our sales and marketing staff including salaries benefits bonuses and stock-based compensation commissions

travel costs and marketing and promotional events corporate communications advertising other brand building

and product marketing expenses and allocated overhead Our sales and marketing expenses as percentage of

total revenue were 82% in 2008 53% in 2009 and 48% in 2010 We intendto continue to invest in sales and

marketing and expect spending in absolute dollars to increase moderately in 2011 and future periods as we

continue to expand our business on worldwide basis We expect sales and marketing expense to continue to be

our largest operating expense Over the long term we believe that sales and marketing expenses as percentage

of total revenue will decrease but vary depending on the mix of revenue from new and existing customers and

from small mid-sized and enterprise customers as well as the productivity of our sales and marketing programs

and our sales representatives and the respective sales commission expenses

Research and Development Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related

expenses for our research and development staff including salaries benefits bonuses and stock-based

compensation the cost of certain third-party service providers and allocated overhead Research and

development expenses as percentage of total revenue were 21% in 2008 16% in 2009 and 19% in 2010 We
have focused our research and development efforts on expanding our product suite increasing functionalities and

enhancing the ease of use of our application suite We expect research and development expenses to increase

moderately in absolute dollars in 2011 and future periods as we intend to release new products features and

functionalities

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel and related

expenses for executive legal finance and human resources including wages benefits bonuses and stock-based

compensation professional fees insurance premiums other corporate expenses and allocated overhead General

and administrative expenses as percentage of total revenue were 22% in 2008 16% in 2009 and 17% in 2010

General and administrative expenses as percentage of total revenue may increase or decrease as we continue to

leverage our existing general and administrative personnel professional fees and other expenses to support our

anticipated growth We expect general and administrative expenses in absolute dollars to increase at faster pace

in 2011 and future periods as we continue to support our business and acquisitions

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements we are required to estimate

income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate This
process

involves estimating the current tax

liability related primarily to foreign withholding taxes and assessing valuation allowance requirements on

deferred tax assets resulting from differing treatment of items for tax add accounting pirposes These differences

result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which are included in the consolidated balance sheets

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K are

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States The preparation of

these consolidated fmancial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities revenue costs and expenses and related disclosures We base our estimates on

historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances

In many instances we could have reasonably used different accounting estimates and in other instances changes

in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period Accordingly actual results could

differ significantly from the estimates made by our management On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates

and athumptions To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results our

future financial statement presentation financial condition results of operations and cash flows will be affected
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We believe that the following critical accounting policies involve greater degree of judgment and

complexity than our other accounting policies Accordingly these are the policies we believe are the most critical

to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of operations

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue consists of subscription fees for our cloud-based software and support
and fees for the

provision of other services Our customers do not have the contractual right to take possession of the software in

substantially all of the transactions Instead the software is delivered through the cloud from our hosting

facilities Therefore these arrangements are treated as service agreements We commence revenue recognition

when all of the following conditions are met

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement

Subscription or services have been delivered to the customer

Collection of related fees is reasonably assured and

Related fees are fixed or determinable

Additionally if an agreement contains non-standard acceptance or requires non-standard performance

criteria to be met we defer revenues until the satisfaction of these conditions

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010 we adopted ASU 2009-13 which amended the accounting guidance for

multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements to

provide updated guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist how the deliverables in an

arrangement should be separated and how the consideration should be allocated

require an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices $Pof each

deliverable if vendor does not have vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price VSOE or

third-party evidence of selling price TPE and

eliminate the use of the residual method and require vendor to allocate revenue using the relative

selling price method

We early-adopted this accounting guidance in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and retrospectively applied its

provisions to applicable arrangements entered into or materially modified after January 2010 the beginning of

our fiscal year

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2009-13 we determined that we did not have objective and reliable evidence

of fair value for each deliverable of its arrangements As result we accounted for subscription and professional

services revenue as one unit of accounting and recognized the total arrangement fee ratably over the contracted

term of the subscription agreement generally one to three years although terms can extend to as long as five

years

Upon adoption of ASU 2009-13 we account for subscription and professional services revenue as separate

units of account and allocate revenue to each deliverable in an arrangement based on selling price hierarchy

The selling price for deliverable is based on its VSOE if available TEE if VSOE is not available or ESP if

neither VSOE nor TPE is available Since VSOE and TEE are not available for our subscnption or professional

services we use ESP

The ESP for each deliverable is determined primarily by considering the weighted average sales price

Selling prices are weighted based on aggregate volume excluding transactions priced below the 10th percentile

and above the 90th percentile of the pricing distribution to remove price outliers In cases where we do not believe
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we have sufficient data points to support the use of weighted average selling price other factors such as the

frequency given price is charged gross margin objectives and pricing practices are used to determine ESP

These cases include new product offerings or products sold infrequently at widely varying prices ESPs are

reviewed annually and when market or Company specific factors change significantly

The majority of customer contracts specify the value of each undelivered element and as result of the

contingent revenue guidance in Subtopic 605-25 paragraphs 30-4 and 30-5 the amount deferred for each

undelivered element must generally be equal to the contractual amounts In these situations ESP is not

significant
factor in the ultimate revenue recognition Revenue allocated to subscription is recognized over the

subscription term Revenue allocated to professional services is recognized as services are completed for each

module

Revenue and deferred revenue as reported as of and for the year ended December 31 2010 and our estimate

of revenue and deferred revenue that would have been reported if the transactions entered into or materially

modified during the year ended December 31 2010 were subject to previous accounting guidance are shown in

the following table in thousands

As of and for the year ended

December 312010

Under previous Impact of

accounting adoption of ASU
As reported guidance 2009-13

Revenue

Subscription and support $163682 $160512 3170

Professional services and other 42244 33296 8948

Total revenue $205926 $193808 12118

Total deferred revenue $234445 $246563 $12118

Accounting for Commission Payments

We defer coimnissions that are the incremental costs that are directly associated with noncancelable service

contracts and consist of sales commissions paid to our direct sales force The conimissions are deferred and

amortized over the noncancelable terms of the related customer agreements The deferred commission amounts

are recoverable from the future revenue streams under the customer agreements We believe this is the

appropriate method of accounting as the commission costs are so closely related to the revenue from the

customer agreements that they should be recorded as an asset and charged to expenses over the same period that

the related revenue is recognized Amortization of deferred commissions is included in sales and marketing

expenses

During 2009 we capitalized $10.6 million of deferred conmiissions and amortized $7.4 million to sales and

marketing expenses During 2010 we capitalized $14.9 million of deferred commissions and amortized $10.1

million to sales and marketing expenses As of December 31 2010 deferred commissions on our consolidated

balance sheet totaled $20.0 million

Accounting for Stock-Based Awards

We measure all share-based payments to employees including grants of stock options based on the grant

date fair value of the awards and recognize these amounts in our consolidated statement of operations over the

period during which the employee is required to perform services in exchange for the award generally over the

vesting period of the award We amortize the fair value of share-based payments on straight-line basis We
have never capitalized stock-based employee compensation cost or recognized any tax benefits related to these

costs
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To estimate the fair value of an award we use the Black-Scholes pricing model This model requires inputs

such as expected term expected volatility and risk-free interest rate These inputs are subjective and generally

require significant analysis and judgment to develop For all grants during 2008 2009 and 2010 we calculated

the expected term based on our historical experience from previous stock option grants We estimate the

volatility of our common stock by analyzing our historical volatility and considering volatility data of our peer

group and their implied volatility We recognize expense only for awards expected to vest We estimate the

forfeiture rate based on historical experience of our stock-based awards that are granted exercised and

cancelled

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the expected term volatility and forfeiture rate related to our

own stock-based compensation on prospective basis and incorporate these factors into the Black-Scholes

pricing model As result if factors change our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different

in the future We recorded stock-based compensation of $8.6 million $10.4 million and $22.0 million during

2008 2009 and 2010 respectively

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Based on review of the current status of our existing accounts receivable and historical collection

experience we have established an estimate of our allowance for doubtful accounts We make judgments as to

our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the portion of receivables when

collection becomes doubtful Provisions are made based upon specific review of all significant outstanding

invoices For those invoices not specifically reviewed provisions are provided based on our collection history

and current economic trends As result if our actual collections are lower than expected additional provisions

for doubtful accounts may be needed and our future results of operations and cash flows could be negatively

affected Write-offs of accounts receivable and recoveries were not significant during each of 2008 2009 and

2010

Identified Intangible Assets

Identified intangible assets primarily consist of acquisition-related developed technology customer

relationships trade names and trademarks which are generally amortized on straight-line basis over the periods

of benefit ranging from two to ten years We perform review of identified intangible assets whenever events or

changes in circunistances indicate that the useful life is shorter than it had originally estimated or that the

carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable If such facts md circumstanbes exist we assess the

recoverability of identified intangible assets by comparing the projected undiscounted net cash flows associated

with the related asset or group
of assets over their remaining lives against their respective canyin amounts

Impairments if any are based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fairvalue of those assets If the

useful life is shorter than originally estimated we accelerate the rate of amortization and amortizes the remaining

carrying value over the new shorter useful life There were no impairment charges related to identified intangible

assets during the year ended December 31 2010

Goodwill

We perform goodwill impairment test annually during the fourth quarter of our fiscal
year

and more

frequently if an event or circumstance indicates that an impairment may have occurred Such events or

circumstances may include significant adverse changes in the general business climate among other things We
have determined that we have single reporting unit The impairment test is performed by determining the fair

value of the reporting unit based on the market price of our common stock If the carrying value of the reporting

unit is less than its fair value then the fair value is allocated to all ot our assets and liabilities including any

unrecognized intangible assets as if the fair value was the purchase price to acquire us The excess of the fair

value over the amounts assigned to our assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of the goodwill If the

carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill an impairment loss is recognized in

an amount equal to that excess We did not record any charges related to goodwill impairment during the year

ended December 31 2010
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Results of Operations

Cost of revenue

Subscription and support

Professional services and other

Total cost of revenue

Gross margin

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Revaluation of contingent consideration

Gain on settlement of litigation net

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Unrealized foreign exchange gain on intercompany

loan

Interest income and other net

Loss before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

48 53 82

19 16 21

17 16 22

80 85 124

59

.1

57

6% 8% 58%

Contingent Consideration

We estimate the fair value of the contingent consideration issued in business combinations using various

valuation approaches as well as significant unobservable inputs reflecting our assessment of the assumptions

market participants would use to value these liabilities The fair values of our liability-classified contingent

consideration is remeasured at each reporting period with any changes in the fair value recorded as income or

expense and such remeasurments resulted in net gain of approximately $7.9 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 Our equity-classified contingent consideration is not remeasured The potential

undiscounted amount of all future cash payments that we could be required to make under the contingent

consideration agreements is between $0 and $62.9 million as of December 31 2010 Please see Note to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The following table sets forth selected consolidated statements of operations data for the specified periods

as percentage of revenue for each of those periods The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not

necessarily indicative of future results

Revenue

Subscription and support 79% 80% 80%

Professional services and other 21 20 20

Total revenue 100 100 100

13 12 14

14 11 21

27 23 35

73 77 65

Due to rounding to the nearest percent totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above
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Year Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Revenue

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Revenue

Subscription and support $163682 $122028 89155

Professional services and other 42244 31026 22758

Total Revenue $205926 $153054 $111913

2010 Compared to 2009 Total revenue increased primarily due to $54.9 million increase in the level of

renewals and sale of additional subscription modules to our existing customers offset by slight decrease in

sales to new customers of $2.0 million We define existing customers as companies that we have sold to before

arid are either renewing their subscriptions purchasing additional modules and/or adding new users and we

define new customers as companies that have never purchased from us before The companies acquired in the

third quarter of 2010 contributed $4.3 million to revenue for the year ended December 31 2010 and we

recognized additional revenues of $12.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 due to the adoption of

ASU 2009-13 As of December 31 2010 we had over 3200 customers as compared to approximately 3100 at

December 31 2009 In the future we expect the total revenue from existing customers to increase at higher rate

than from new customers

Revenue from customers in the United States accounted for $160.2 million or 78% of total revenue in

2010 compared to $126.6 million or 83% of total revenue in 2009

Subscription and support revenue

Subscription and support revenue increased by $41.7 million or 34% majority of the increase in

subscription and support revenue came from increase in revenue from existing customers The adoption of ASU

2009-13 contributed approximately $3.2 million and the companies acquired in 2010 contributed $4.3 million

Professional services and other revenue

Professional services and other revenue increased by $11.2 million or 36% The increase in professional

services and other primarily came from the adoption of ASU 2009-13 which contributed $8.9 million

2009 Compared to 2008 Revenue increased primarily due to $40.8 million increase from existing

customers as result of increased focus on selling to existing customers Revenue from existing customers

includes renewals and subscriptions for additional modules and end users In addition revenue from new

customers increased $0.3 million As of December 31 2009 we had approximately 3100 customers as

compared to 2608 at December 31 2008

Revenue from customers in the United States accounted for $126.6 million or 83% of total revenue in 2009

compared to $96.0 million or 86% of total revenue in 2008
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Revenue

Subscription and support $163682 $122028 89155

Professional services and other 42244 31026 22758

Total Revenue 205926 153054 111913

Cost of revenue

Subscription and support 26552 17763 15604

Professional services and other 29939 17560 23232

Total cost of revenue 56491 3323 38S36

Grossprofit $149435 $117731 73077

Gross margin 73% 77% 65%.

Subscription and support cost of revenue

2010 Compared to 2009 Subscription and support cost of revenue increased by $8.8 million or 49% which

was primarily driven by an increase in employee-related costs of $3.8 million resulting from an increase in

headcount Part of the headcount increase was due to acquisitions In addition amortization of intangibles

increased by $2.9 million due to acquisitions our data center-related costs increased by $0.8 million allocated

overhead costs increased by $0.6 million depreciation increased by $0.5 million and travel and entertainment

increased by $0.2 million

2009 Compared to 2008 Subscription and support cost of revenue indreased by $2.1 million or 14%

Increase was primarily driven by data center-related costs of $1.5 million and increase iii employee-related costs

of $0.6 million

Professional services and other cost of revenue

2010 Compared to 2009 Professional services and other cost of revenue increased by $12.4 million or 70%

which was primarily driven by an increase in employee-related costs of $710 million resulting from an increase in

headcount In addition outside professional services increased by $4.1 million allocated overhead costs

increased by $0.6 million due to increased headcount and travel and entertainment increased by $0.7 million

2009 Compared to 2008 Professional services and other cost of revenue decreased by $5.7 million or 24%
Decrease was primarily driven by shift in revenue mix Revenue from existing customers has lower cost of

revenue compared to revenue generated from new business In addition employee-related costs decreased by

$4.1 million due to lower headcount travel and entertainment decreased by $0.3 million and allocated overhead

costs decreased by $0.3 million due to lower headcount

We expect that in the future subscription and support cost of revenue and professional services and other

cost of revenue may increasedepending on the growth rate of our new bookings and our need to support the

implementation hosting nnd support of those new bookings We also expect that subscription and support cost of

revenue and professional services and other cost of revenues as percentage of revenue could fluctuate from

period to period depending on growth of our professional services business and any associated costs relating to

the delivery of professional services the timing of sales of products that have royalty and referrals associated

with them the amount and timing of amortization of intangibles from acquisitions and the timing of significant

expenditures To the extent that our customer base grows we intend to continue to invest additional resources in
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expanding the delivery capability of our application suite and other services The timing of these additional

expenses could affect our cost of revenues both in terms of absolute dollars and as percentage of total revenue

in any particular quarterly or annual period

Gross margin decreased from 77% for 2009 to 73% for 2010 The decrease in gross margin was primarily

due to increase in amortization of intangibles of $2.9 million due to acquisitions as well as an increase in

headcount-related costs il addition our gross margin was adversely impacted by our fiscal 2010 acquisitions

primarily because we were required to reduce the amount of deferred revenue to the fair value of the estimated

cost to fulfill the contractual obligations related to that deferred revenue while recognizing all of the revenue-

related expenses

Gross margin increased from 65% for 2008 to 77% for 2009 The increase in gross margin was primarily

due to increased revenue increased renewals which have lower cost of revenue as percentage of revenue and

larger customer base over which to spread fixed costs

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Sales and marketing $99051 $80431 $92187

Percent of total revenue 48% 53% 82%

2010 Compared to 2009 Sales and marketing expenses increased primarily due to $17.3 million increase

in employee-related costs primarily resulting from $6.0 million increase in commission expenses and $4.1

million in salary due to increased headcount In addition travel entertainment increased by $1.3 million

outside services increased by $1.1 million we had amortization of intangibles of $0.2 million and other sales

and marketing expenses of $0.2 million These increases were offset by decreases in marketing and promotional

spend of $1.5 million We expect sales and marketing spending to increase modestly in 2011 and future periods

as we continue to expand our business on worldwide basis

2009 Compared to 2008 Sales and marketing expenses decreased primarily due to $5.7 million decrease

in employee-related costs due to lower headcount decrease of $4.7 million in marketing and promotional

spending and to lesser extent decrease in allocated overhead costs facilities depreciation and travel and

entertainmçnt costs

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Research and development $39892 $24427 $23085

Percent of total revenue 19% 16% 21%

2010 Compared to 2009 Research and development expenses increased primarily due to $11.2 million

increase in employee-related costs primarily resulting from increased headcount in connection with expansion of

our offshore research and development teams during the year In addition there was an increase of $2.3 million

in outside services an increase of $1.5 million in allocated expenses and an increase of $0.4 million in travel and

entertalmnent We expect research and development costs to increase at moderate pace in 2011 and future

periods as we continue to expand our offshore research and development efforts
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2009 Compared to 2008 Research and development expenses increased primarily due to $0.5 million

increase in employee-related costs which includes an increase of $1.4 million in bonus accrual which was offset

by cost savings from offshoring some of our research and development efforts In addition there was an increase

of $0.5 million in outside services and an increase of $0.3 million in allocated expenses

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

General and administrative $35941 $24995 $24744

Percent of total revenue 17% 16% 22%

2010 Compared to 2009 General and administrative expenses increased primarily due to an increase of

$7.8 million in employee-related costs primarily due to increased headcount In addition professional and

outside services increased by $4.3 million primarily due to acquisition activities IT/telecom increased by $0.8

million travel and entertainment increased by $0.4 million and equipment and software increased by $0.4

million Such increases were offset by decrease in allocated overhead costs of $2.8 million We expect general

and administrative expense to increase at faster pace in 2011 and future periods as we continue to invest in our

business and acquisitions

2009 Compared to 2008 General and administrative expenses increased primarily due to an increase of

$0.7 million in employee-related costs which includes $1.4 million increase in .bonus accrual partially offset

by decrease in salaries employee benefits and other employee related costs due to lower headcount The

increase in employee-related costs was partially offset by decrease in professional and outside services

Revaluation of contingent consideration

The following table presents our revaluation of contingent considerations for the periods presented

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Revaluation of contingent considerations $7874

Percent of total revenue 4% n/a n/a

Revaluation of contingent consideration consisted of gain of approximately $7.9 million related to contingent

consideintion associated with the CubeTree acquisition We value the contingent consideration at each reporting

period for the following contingency periods CubeTree is based on our stock price over three-year period

and Inform is based on achievement of bookings for period of years following the closing of the

acquisition

Interest Income and Other Net

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Interest incrn and other net $1414 $810 $1780

Percent of total revenue 1% 1% 2%

2010 Compared to 2009 Interest income expense and other net increased by $0.6 million primarily due

to increase in interest income resulting from higher cash balances

49



2009 Compared to 2008 Interest income expense and other net decreased primarily due to $1.7 million

decrease in interest income as result of lower interest rates partially offset by an increase in net foreign

exchange gain of $0.9 million

Unrealized Foreign Exchange Gain on Intercompany Loan

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Unrealized Foreign Exchange Gain on Intercompany Loan $4954
Percent of total revenue 2% n/a n/a

As the functional
currency

of our foreign subsidiary where the intercompany loan is recorded is its

respective local currency we remeasured the foreign currency
into U.S dollars at each reporting period For the

year ended December 31 2010 such changes resulted in $5.0 million gain

Provision for Income Taxes

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Provision for income taxes $1243 $1322 $764

Effective tax rate on earnings 1% 12% 1%

Our effective tax rate was approximately 1% 12% and l%in the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 respectively Our effective tax rate differed from the U.S federal statutory rate primarily due to

the distribution and mixture of taxable profits in various jurisdictions resulting in foreign income taxes and

certain U.S losses not benefited due to our valuation allowance

We have incurred operating losses in all periods to date and accordingly have not recorded provision for

income taxes for any of the periods presented other than provisions for certain state taxes and foreign income

taxes In connection with our adoption of ASC 718 SFAS No 123R we use the with-and-without approach

described in ASC 740 EITF Topic No D-32 Intraperiod Tax Allocation of the Tax Effect of Pretax Income

from Continuing Operations to determine the recognition and measrement of excess tax benefits Accordingly

we have elected to recognize excess income tax benefits from stock option exercises in additional paid in capital

only if an incremental income tax benefit would be realized after considering all other tax attributes presently

available to us In addition ve have elected to account for the indirect effects of stock-based awards on other ta

attributes such the research and altemative minimum tax credits through the income statement

Realization of deferred tax assets depends upon future earnings if any the timing ahd amount of which are

uncertain Accordingly we have offset our net deferred tax assets which are not more-likely-than-not to be

realized with valuation allowance

The utilization of our net operating loss could be subject to substantial annual limitation as result of certain

future events such as acquisition or other significant equity events which may be deemed as change in

ownership under the provisions of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended and similar state provisions

The annual limitations could result in the expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization In

addition for the year ended December 31 2010 the utilization of Califomia net operating loss is not allowed due

to the suspension of the net operating loss deduction under the Califomia tax code
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date substantially all of our operations have been financed through the sale of equity securities

including net cash proceeds in connection with our initial public offering of common stock completed in the

fourth quarter of 2007 of approximately $104.0 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions

and offering costs In June 2008 we completed public offering raising approximately $27.4 million in net

proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1.5 million and other offering expenses of

approximately $0.6 million In October 2009 we completed follow-on public offering raising approximatel

$202.9 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and dommissions of $10.4 million and

other offering expenses of approximately $0.6 million In addition we have been genating cash flow from

operations since the fourth quarter of 2008

The following table sets forth summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 43357 15400 $12025
Net cash used in investing activities 67902 216788 28706
Net cash provided by financing activities 22542 208024 28493

Net Cash Provided by Used in Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are significantly influenced by the amount of cash we invest in

personnel and infrastructure to support the anticipated growth of our business increases in the number of

customers using our application suite and the amount and timing of customer payments Cash provided by used

in operating activities has historically resulted from losses from operations changes in working capital accounts

offset by the add back of non-cash expense items such as depreciation amortization and expense associated with

stock-based compensation awards revaluation of contingent consideration and foreign exchange unrealized gain

on an intercompany loan

Cash provided by operating activities during 2010 consisted of net loss of $12.5 million adjusted for

$30.9 million of non-cash depreciation amortization and stock-based compensation expenses and $10.1 million

for the amortization of deferred commissions offset by $7.9 million in revaluation of contingent consideration

and $5.0 million in unrealized gain related to an intercompany loan During 2010 we experienced significant

increases in deferred commissions and deferred revenue as result of the growth in our business Other increases

contributing to our cash provided by operating activities inclæded increases in deferred revenue of $49.2 million

accrued employee compensation of $8.3 million primarily due to the bonus accrual for 2010 acCounts payable

of $5.5 million accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $2.9 million and to lesser extent an increase in

long-term income tax payable and other liabilities These increases were offset by $21.0 million increase in

accounts receivable $14.9 million increase in deferred commissions and $2.9 million increase in prepaid

expenses and other current assets and other assets

Cash provided by operating activities during 2009 consisted of anet loss of $12.6 million due primarily to

the significant investments we incurred to grow our business adjusted for $14.3 million of non-cash

depreciation amortization and stock-basedcompensation expenses and $7.4 million for the amortization of

deferred commissions During 2010 we experienced significant increases in deferred commissions and deferred

revenue as result of the growth in our business The increase in our deferred revenue of $31.8 million

contributed to cash provided by operating activities although this was partially offset by $10.6 million increase

in deferred commissions The increase in accrued employee compensation of $2.4 million primarily due to the

bonus accrual for 2010 and to lesser extent an increase in long-term tax payable and other liabilities were

offset by $13.2 million increase in accounts receivable due to increased revenue $2.7 million decrease in

accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities and $2.5 million increase in prepaid

expenses and other current assets
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We used $12.0 million of cash in operating activities during 2008 The cash usage was primarily from net

loss of $65.0 million due primarily to the significant investments we incurred to grow our business adjusted for

$12.5 million of hon-cash depreciation amortiation and stock-based compensation expenses and $6.6 million

non-cash expense for the amortization of deferred commisiions During 2008 we experienced significant

increases in deferred commissions and deferred revenue as result of the growth in our business The increase in

our deferred revenue of $48.8 million contributed to cash provided by operating activities although this was

partially offset by $7.0 million increase in deferred commissions We used $7.1 million of cash in operations

resulting from decrçase in accrued employee compensation of $6.1 million an indrease in accounts receivable

of $2.4 million and decrease in accounts payable of $1.6 million which was partially offset by $3.0 millien

increase in accrued expenses and other accniŁd liabilities

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

We used $67.9 million of net cash in investing activities during 2010 This use of cash primarily resulted

from $400.4 mjllion of purchases of available-for-sale securities and from $26.1 million in business acquisitions

partially offset by $364.5 million provided from sale and maturity of available-for-sale securities Other uses of

cash related to capital expendittires of $6.0 million

We used $216.8 million of cash in investing activities during 2009 This use of cash primarily resulted from

$323.5 million of purchases of available-for-sale securities and $2.8 million in capital expenditures related to

purchases of additional equipment for our expanding infrastructure and workforce partially offset by

$4.5 million in sales and $104.7 million in maturities of available-for-sale securities Other uses of cash related to

restricted cash for leased space and credit cards during 2009

We used $28.7 million of cash in investing activities during 2008 This use of cash primarily resulted from

$78.1 million of purchases of available-for-sale securities and $4.5 million in capital expenditures related to

purchases of additional equipment for our expanding infrastructure and work force partially offset by

$8.0 million in sales and $46.2 million in maturities of available-for-sale securities Other uses of cash related to

restricted cash for leased
space

and credit cards during 2008

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities in 2010 of $22.5 million was due primarily to proceeds from the

exercise of stpck options arising from our stock based compensation plans

Cash ovided by financing activities in 2009 of $208.0 million was due primarily to net proceeds of

$203.0 millibn from follow-on public offering completed in October 2009 and proceeds from the exercise of

stock options of $5.0 million

Cash provided by finanLdng activities in 2008 of $28.5million was due primarily to net proceeds of

$27.4 million from public bfferink and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $1.5 million

Capital Resources

We believe our existing cash cash equivalents and marketable securities and currently available resources

will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs over the next 12 months Our future

capital requirements will depend on many factors including our rate of revenue and bookings growth the level

of our sales and marketing activities the timing and extent of spending to support product development efforts

and expansion into new territories the timing of introductions of new products and services and enhancements to

existing products and services the timing of general and administrative expenses as we grow our administrative

infrastructure and integrate Inform CubeTree and YouCalc and the continuing market acceptance of our

application suite Our capital expenditures in 2011 are expected to grow in line with business activities To the

extent that existing cash and cash from operations are not sufficient to fund our future activities we may need to

raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financing
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Acquisition-related Commitments

During 2010 we completed acquisitions In connection with these acquisitions we agreed to pay certain

amounts contingent upon the achievement of agreed-upon milestones as follows

On July 2010 we completed the acquisition of Inform The earn-out provides for the payment of up

to approximately $15.0 million in cash consideration upon the achievement of certain bookings

revenue targets

On July 13 2010 we completed the acquisition of YouCalc The earn-out provides for the issuance of

98290 shares of common stock valued at approximately $1.5 million upon the achievement of certain

product development arid performance milestones

On July 20 2010 we omplØted the acquisition Of CubeTree We agreed to make future contingent

cash payment based on the value of our common stock Spdcifically the contingent cash payment

provides for the former stockholders of CubeTree to receive cash payment on the three-year

anniversary of the closing or at suah earlier time as change of control of us occurs This time is

referred to as the Top-Up Payment Date If on the Top-Up Payment Date the value of the

conideration issued at the closing or the Market Value is less than approkirnateiy $47.9 million or

$53.01 per share or the Guaranteed Value subject to adjustments we would be obligated to make

payment to such holders in an aggregate amount equal to the difference between the Guaranteed Valu

and the Market Value or the Top-Up Payment The aggregate Top-Up Payment will be reduced to

the extent of any sale transfer or other disposition of any of the consideration subject to limited

exceptions This right to receive the Top-Up Payment will terminate in the event the value of the shares

of the consideration paid at closing equals or exceeds approximately $47.9 million or $53.01 per share

at any time prior to the Top-Up Payment Date

The liabilities for contingent consideration are recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet

as of the acquisition dates and those related to Inform and CubeTree are remeasured to fair value each

reporting period with any changes in the value recorded as income or expense

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any special purpose entities and other than operating leases for office space and computer

equipment which are described below we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements

Contractual Obligations

Our principal commitments consist of obligations under leases for our office space computer equipment

and fumiture and fixtures and contractual commitments for hosting and other support services The following

table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31 2010

Payment Due by Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

Total Year Years Years Years Other

In thousands

Operating lease obligations $17064 $4184 $10389 $2491

Contractual commitments 2282 791 601 890

Uncertain tax positions 1987 1987

Total $21333 $4975 $10990 $33X1 $1987

As of December 31 2010 the Company reflected $2.0 million in long term taxes payable related to uncertain

tax positions At this time management are unable to make reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of

payments in individual years beyond the next twelve months due to uncertainties in the timing of the

commencement and settlement of potential tax audits and controversies
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For discussion of our acquisition-related commitments see Liquidity and Capital ResourcesCapital

Resources above

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Effective April 2009 we adopted three accounting standard updates which were intended to provide

additional application guidance and enhanced disclosures regarding fair value measurements and impairments of

securities They also provide additional guidelines for estimating fair value in accordance with fair value

accounting The first update provides additional guidelines for estimating fair value in accordance with fair value

accounting The second accounting update changes accounting requirements for other-than-temporary-

impairment OfT for debt securities by replacing the current requirement that holder have the positive

intent and ability to hold an impaired security to recovery in order to conclude an impairment was temporary

with requirement that an entity conclude it does not intend to sell an impaired security and it will not be

required to sell the security before the recovery of its amortized cost basis The third accounting update increases

the frequency of fair value disclosures These updates were effective for fiscal years and interim periods ended

after June 15 2009 The adoption of thçse accounting updates did not have any impact on our consolidated

financial statements
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As we expand internationally our results of operations and cash flows will become increasingly subject to

fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates Our revenue is generally denominated in the local

currency of the contracting party The substantial majority of our revenue has been denominated in U.S dollars

Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our operations are located Our expenses are

incurred primarily in theUnited States with small portion of expenses incurred where our other international

sales and operations offices are located Our results of operations and cash flows are therefore subject to

fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could

harm our business in the future The effect of an immediate 10% adverse change in exchange rates on foreign

denominated receivables as of December 31 2010 would result in an adverse impact on income before income

taxes of approximately $1.9 million To date we have not entered into any foreign currency hedging contracts

although we may do so in the future

We had cash and cash equivalents of $75.4 million and marketable securities of $281.1 million as of

December 31 2010 respectively Cash cash equivalents and marketable securities are held for working capital

purposes and restricted cash of $0.9 million is held as security against credit card deposits and various lease

obligations Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates tulates to our investment portfolio We
have not used derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio We placed our investments with high

quality issues and by policy limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer We protect and preserve our

investment funds by limiting default market and reinvestment risk Our investments in marketable securities

consist of high-grade government securities with maturities of less than two years Investments purchased with

the remaining maturity of 90 days or less are considered to be cash equivalents We classify all of our

investments as available-for-sale Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and

losses net of tax reported in separate component of stockholders equity The average maturity of our

investment portfolio is approximately 190 days therefore the movement of interest rates should not have

material impact on our consolidated balance sheet or statement of operations

At any time significant increase or decrease in interest rates will have an impact on the falr market value

and interest earnings of our investment portfolio We do not currently hedge this interest exposure We have

performed sensitivity analysis as of December 31 2010 using modeling teclmique that measures the change

in the fair values arising from hypothetical 100 basis points adverse movement in the levels of interest rates

across the entire yield curve which are representative of historical movements in the Federal Funds rate with all

other variables held constant The analysis is based on the weighted-average maturity of our investments as of

December 31 2010 The sensitivity analysis indicated that hypothetical 100 basis points adverse movement in

interest rates would result in loss in the fair values of our investments of approximately $1.7 million as of

December 31 2010

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Please refer to Item 15Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable
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Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Con trols and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer CEO and our Chief Financial

Officer CFOhas evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as such term is

defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Securities Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act as

of the end of our fiscal year December 31 2010 Based on that evaluation our CEO and CFO have concluded

that our disclosure cpntrols and procedures as of December 31 2010 were effective to ensure that information

required to be disclosed by us in the reports filed and submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is

recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and is

accumulated and communicated to our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing aud maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-l5f Our internal control over financial reporting is

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP Our internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenatice of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our

transactions and dispositions of assets

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP and that our receipts and expenditures are

made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and Board of Directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition

use or disposition of our assets that could have material effdct on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our CEO and CFO we

conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31
2010 based on criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework COSO Framework Based on that evaluation our CEO and CFO
have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2010

Our independent registered public accounting firm KPMG LLP has issued an auditors report on the

effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting which it included herein

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during fiscal 2010

that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial

reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART ifi

Item 10 Directors and Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item with respect to directors is incorporated by reference to our Proxy

Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

We have adopted code of business conduct and ethics applicable to our directors officers including our

principal executive officer and principal financial officer and employees The Code of Business Conduct and

Ethics is available on the investor relations our website at www.successfactors.conilinvestor under Corporate

Jovemance

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting

of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Ceflain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting

of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting

of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting

of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a1 Financial Statements

The following financial statements are flied as part Of this report
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REPORT OF KPMG LLP INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders SuccessFactors Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of SuccessFactors Inc and subsidiaries

SuccessFactors Inc as of December 31 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders

equity and comprehensive loss and cash flows for the year ended December 31 2010 We also have audited

SuccessFactors Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established

in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO SuccessFactors Inc.s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements

for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over

Financial Reporting Item 9A Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements

and an opinion on the Companys internal control over fmancial reporting based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial

reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit of the consolidated financial statements included

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating

the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that

could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls

may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of SuccessFactors Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and the result of their operations

and their cash flows for
year ended December 31 2010 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles Also in our opinion SuccessFactors Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed its method of accounting

for multiple element revenue transactions in fiscal 2010 resulting from the adoption of new accounting

pronouncement

Is KPMG LLP

Mountain View California

March8201l
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REPORT OF ERNST YOUNG LLP INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of SuccessFactors Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of SuccessFactors Inc as of December 31

2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations convertible preferred stock and stockholders equity

deficit and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31 2009 These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accoidance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of SuccessFactors Inc at December 2009 and the consolidated results of its

operations and its cash flow for each of the two years in the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity

with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

Is Ernst Young LLP

San Francisco California

February 26 2010
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SUCCESSFACTORS INC

ConsOlidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands except

per share data

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 75384 76618

Marketable securities 281073 246629

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1039 and

$1161 80440 57611

Deferred commissions 7106 5950

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 8022 5679

Total current assets 452025 392487

Restricted cash 913 931

Property and equipment net 8737 5787

Deferred commissions net of current portion 12854 9233

Goodwill 64077

Intangible assets 37832

Other assets 975 259

Total assets 577413 408697

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 7254 794

Accmed expenses and other current liabilities 11433 7220

Accmed employee compensation 23467 14546

Deferred revenue 219868 160356

Acquisition-related contingent consideration 5200

Total current liabilities 267222 182916

Deferred revenue net of current portion 14577 21268

Long term income taxes payable 1987 1643

Contingent consideration less current portion 21050

Other long-term liabilities 1248 367

Total liabilities 306084 206194

Commitments and contingencies Note
Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $000l par value 5000 shares authorized no shares issued or

outstanding

Common stock $0.001 par value 200000 shares authorized 77137 and 71748 shares

issued and outstanding excluding and legally issued and outstanding as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively 77 72

Additional paid-in capital 499343 421419
Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 3258 89
Accumulated deficit 231349 218899

Total stockholders equity 271329 202503

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 577413 408697

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SUCCESSFACTORS INC

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per share data

Revenue

Subscription and support $163682 $122028 89155

Professional services and other 42244 31026 22758

Total revenue 205926 153054 111913

Cost of revenue1

Subscription and support 26552 17763 15604

Professional services and other 29939 17560 23232

Total cost of revenue 56491 35323 38836

Gross profit 149435 117731 73077

Operating expenses1
Sales and marketing 99051 80431 92187

Researchand development 39892 24427 23085

General and administrative 35941 24995 24744

Gain on settlement of litigation net 971
Revaluation of contingent consideration 7874

Total operating expenses 167010 129853 139045

Loss from operations 17575 12122 65968
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on intercompany loan 4954

Interest income and other net 1414 810 1780

Loss before provision for income taxes 11207 11312 64188
Provision for income taxes 1243 1322 764

Net loss 12450 12634 64952

Net loss per common share basic and diluted 0.17 0.21 1.21

Shares used in computing net loss per common share basic and diluted 73939 59534 53803

Amounts include stock-based compensation expense as follows

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Costofrevenue $2826 $1417 $1053

Sales and marketing 8300 4451 4084

Research and development 3742 1354 1099

General and administrative 7170 3195 2368

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SUCCESSFACTORSINC

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity Deficit and Comprehensive Loss

Balances at December 31 2007 51350

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in connection with

follow-on public offering net of issuance costs

incurred 2500

Vesting of stock option shares exercised early 357

Issuance of common stock in connection with net

exercise of common stock warrant 287

Comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment net of

tax

Unrealized gain on marketable securities

Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Balances at December31 2008

Exercise of stock options and stock grants to board

members for board services 1552

Vested restricted stock units converted to shares 74

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in connection with

follow-on public offering net of issuance costs

incurred 13800

Vesting of stock option shares exercised early 332

Comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment net of

tax

Unrealized gain on marketable securities

Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Balances at December31 2009

Exercise of stock options

Vested restricted stock units converted to shares

Stock-based compensation

Issuance cost incurred in prior year follow on

public offering

Issuance of common stock in connection with

acquisitions

Contingent consideration in connection with

acquisition

Vesting of stock option shares exercised early

Comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment net of

Comsnon Stock

Shares Amount

51 $161150 55 $141313 19943

1480

8604

Accumulated Total

Additional Other Stockholders

Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Equity

Capital Income loss Deficit Deficit

In thousands

1496 1479

8604

27427 27430

2247 2248

179
50

64952

179
50

64952

65081

55990 56 200907 74 206265 5376

5023 5025

10417 10417

14 203041

2031

203055

2031

138
123

12634

138
123

12634

12649

89 218899 202503

22657

22038

111 111

31797 31798

1540 1540

3258

89

12450

3258

89

12450

9103

$77 $499343 $3258 $231349 $271329

7271748

3678

457

22038

421419

22653

1250

tax

Unrealized gain on marketable securities

Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Balances at December 31 2010 77137

Excludes 561 thousand shares held in escrow in connection with Infcirm and Cubetree acquisitions

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SUCCESSFACTORSINC

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial
statements

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

12450 12634 $64952

5645
75

10120

22038

3118

7874
4954

3964

62
7383

10417

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by used in

operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Gain loss on disposal of property and equipment net

Amortization of deferred commissions

Stock-based compensation expense

Amortization of intangible assets

Gain on revaluation of contingent consideration

Unrealized foreign exchange gain on intercompany loan

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Deferred commissions

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses
and other current liabilities

Accrued employee compensation

Long-term income tax payable

Other liabilities

Deferred revenue

Net cash provided by used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Restricted cash

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from sale of assets

Acquisitions net of cash acquired

Purchase of available-for-sale securities

Maturities of available-for-sale securities

Sale of available-for-sale securities

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of stock options net

Proceeds from early exercise of stock options net

Proceeds from public offerings net of offering costs

Principal payments on capital lease obligations

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental cash flow disclosure

Cash paid during the period for

Interest

Income taxes

21044 13165
14896 10553
2164 2455

715 61
5511 1166
2888 1470
8312 2387

344 788

190 201

49213 31826

43357 15400

118 317

6040 2844
88

26089
400355 323537

222963 104654

141500 4534

67902 216788

3885
193

6572

8604

2374
7043

877
102

1635
2142
6106

855

179
48788

12025

284
4479

78086
46160

7983

28706

1480
162

26885

34
28493

177

12415
82274

69859

268

95

22657

111

22542

769

1234
76618

75384

5025

203055

56
208024

123

6759
69859

76618

165

1029 392
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SUCCESSFACTORS INC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Success Acquisition Corporation was incorporated in Delaware in 2001 In April 2007 the name was

changed to SuccessFactors Inc the Company The Company provides cloud-based business execution software

solutions that enable organizations to bridge the execution gap between business strategy and results The

Companys goal is to enable organizations to substantially increase employee productivity worldwide by

enhancing its existing people perfonnance solutions with business alignment solutions to enable customers to

achieve business results The Companys integrated application suite includes the following modules and

capabilities Performance Management Goal Management Compensation Management Succession

Management Career and Development Planning Recruiting Management Employee Central Analytics and

Reporting CubeTree Social Collaboration Employee Profile 360-Degree Review Employee Survey

Calibration Team Rater and proprietary and third-party content The Companys headquarters are located in

San Mateo California The Company conducts its business worldwide with additional locations in other regions

in the United States Europe Asia Canada and Latin America

Public Offerings

In November 2007 the Company completed its initial public offering selling approximately 11619000

shares of its common stock for approximately $104 milliop in net proceeds Since 2007 the Company has used

the net proceeds for general corporate purposes including the expansion of sales and marketing research and

development working capital and capital expenditures

In June 2008 and October 2009 the Company completed follow-on offerings raising net proceeds of

approximately $27.4 million and $202.9 million respectively

Reclassijications

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010 the Company included $3.5 million unrealized foreign exchange gain on

an intercompany loan in effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents in its consolidated

statement of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30 2010 This unrealized gain should have been

reflected as an adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities therefore net cash

provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30 2010 was overstated by $3.5 million

The accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31 2010 correctly reflects

this gain as an adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities The error had no

impact on cash and cash equivalents the consolidated statement of operations or the consolidated balance sheet

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States of America GAAP and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the

Securities and Exchange Con-miission the SEC applicable for annual financial information The Companys
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of SuccessFactors Inc and its consolidated subsidiaries

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation Certain

reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated statements of operations to conform to the 2010

presentation During 2010 the Company segregated its revenue and cost of revenue into subscription and support

and professional services and other
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that

affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes These estimates form the basis

for judgments the Company makes about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources The Company bases its estimates and judgments on historical expcricncc and on various

other assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable under the circumstances GAAP requires the

Company to make estimates and judgments in several areas including those related to revenue recognition

recoverability of accbunts receivable provision for income taxes commission and bonus payments fair values of

marketable securities fair value of acquired intangible assets fair value of acquisition related contingent

consideration and the determination of the fair market value of stock options including the use of forfeiture

estimates These estimates are based on managements knowledge about current events and expectations about

actions the Company may undertake in the future Actual results could differ materially from those estimates

Segments

The Companys chief operating decision maker is its Chief Executive Officer who reviews financial

information presented on consolidated basis Accordingly the Company has determined that it has single

reporting segment and operating unit structure specifically the provisionof cloud-based business execution

software and associated services for employee performance and business alignment

Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists of subscription fees for the Companys software and support and fees for the provision of

professional services The Companys customers do not have the contractual right to take possession of the

software in substantially all of the transactions Instead the software is delivered through the cloud from the

Companys hosting facilities In the infrequent circumstance in which customer of the Company has the

contractual right to take possession of the software the Company has determined that the customers would incur

significant penalty to take possession of the software Therefore these arrangements are treated as service

agreements The Company commences revenue recognition when all of the following conditions are met

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement

Subscription or services have been delivered to the customer

Collection of related fees is reasonably assured and

Related fees are fixed or determinable

Additionally if an agreement contains non-standard acceptance or requires non-standard performance

criteria to be met the Company defers revenues until these conditions are satisfied Signed agreements are used

as evidence of an arrangement The Company assesses cash collectability based on number of factors such as

past collection history with the customer and creditworthiness of the customer If the Company determines that

collectability is not reasonably assured the Company defers the revenue recognition until collectability becomes

reasonably assured generally upon receipt of cash The Company assesses whether the fee is fixed or

determinable based on the payment terms associated with the transaction and whether the sales price is subject to

refund or adjustment The Companys arrangements are typically noncancelable though customers typically

have the right to terminate their agreement for cause if the Company materially fails to perform

The Company recognizes the total contracted subscription revenue ratably over the contracted term of the

subscription agreement generally one to three years although terms can extend to as long as five years

Subscription terms commence on the later of the start date specified in the subscription arrangement the date the

customers module is provisioned or when all of the revenue recognition criteria have been met The Company

generally considers delivery to have occurred upon provisioning of the module which is the point in time that
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customer is provided access to use the Companys cloud-based application suite Indirect taxes including sales

and use tax amounts and goods and service tax amounts collected from customers have been recorded on net

basis

The Companys professional services include forms and workflow configuration data integration business

process consulting and training related to the application suite and are short-term in nature Professional services

are generally sold in conjunction with the Companys subscriptions Historically the Company recognized

professional services revenue together with subscription fees ratably over the contracted term of the subscription

agreement Upon the adoption of new accounting guidance on multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements as
discussed below the Company began separately accounting for revenue on professional services

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Accounting Standards Update

No 2009-13 ASU 2009-13 which amended the accounting guidance for multiple-deliverable revenue

arrangements to

provide updated guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist how the deliverables in an

arrangement should be separated and how the consideration should be allocated

require an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices ESP of each

deliverable if vendor does not have vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price YSOB or

third-party evidence of selling price TPE and

eliminate the use of the residual method and require vendor to allocate revenue using the relative

selling price method

The Company early-adopted this accounting guidance and has retrospectivel applied its prbvisions to

arrangements entered into or materially modified after January 2010 the beginning of the Companys fIcal

year

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2009-13 the Company determined that it did not have objective and reliable

evidence of fair value for each deliverable of its arrangements As result the Company accounted for

subscription and professional services revenue as one unit of accounting and recognized the total anangement fee

ratably over the contracted term of the subscription agreement generally one to three years although terms can

extend to as long as five years

Upon adoption of ASU 2009-13 the Company accounts for subscription and professional services revenue

as separate units of accounting and allocates revenue to each deliverable in an arrangement based on selling

price hierarchy The selling price for deliverable is based on its VSOE if available TPE if VSOE is not

available or ESP if neither VSOE nor TPE is available Since VSOE and TPE are not available for the

Companyssubscription or professional services the Company uses ESP

The ESP for each deliverable is determined primarily by considering the weighted average sales price

Selling prices are weighted based on aggregate volume excluding transactions priced below the 10th percentile

and above the 90th percentile of the pricing distribution to remove price outliers In cases where the Company
does not believe it has sufficient data points to support the use of weighted average selling price other factors

such as the frequency given price is charged gross margin objectives and pricing practices are ued to

determine ESP These cases include new product offerings or products sold infrequently at widely varying prices

ESP are reviewed annually and when market or Company specjfic factors change significantly

The majority of customer contracts specify the value of each undelivered element and as result of the

contingent revenue guidance in Subtopic 605-25 paragraphs 30-4 and 30-5 the amount deferred for each

undelivered element must generally be equal to the contractual amounts In these situations ESP is not

significant factor in the ultimate revenue recognition Revenue allocated to subscription is recognized oyer the

subscription term Revenue allocated to professional services is recognized as services are cympleted for each

module
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Revenue and deferred revenue as reported as of and for the year ended December 31 2010 and the

Companys estimate of revenue and deferred revenue that would have been reported if the transactions entered

into or materially modified during the year ended December 31 2010 were subject to previous accounting

guidance are shown in the following table in thousands

As of and for the year ended

December 312010

Under previous Impact of

accounting adoption of ASU
As reported guidance 2009-13

Revenue

Subscription and support $163682 $160512 3170

Professional services and other 42244 33296 8948

Total revenue $205926 $193808 $12118

Total deferred revenue $234445 $246563 $12118

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of billings or payments received in advance of revenue recognition from the

Companys sulscription and other services described above and is recognized as revenue when all of the revenue

recognition criteria are met For subscription arrangements with terms of over one year the Compdny generally

invoices its customers in annual installments Accordingly the deferred revenue balance does not represent the

total contract value of these multi-year noncancelable subscription agreements The Compaqys professional

services are generally sold in conjunction with the subscriptions Historically the Company recognized

professional services revenue together with subscription fees ratably over the contracted term of the subscription

agreement Upon adoption of ASU 2009-13 the Company began separately accounting for subscription and

professional services revenues The portion of deferred revnue that the Company anticipates will be recognized

after the succeeding 12-month period is recorded as non-current deferred revenue and the remaining portion is

recorded as current deferred revenqe Current deferred revenue also includes subscription agreements for which

the subscription delivery provision start date has not yet been determined Upon determination of the initial

access date timing of such arrangements amounts estimated to be recognized after more than 12 months are

reclassified to non-current deferred revenue

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs related to hosting the Companys application suite compensation

and related expenses for data center professionalservices staff and customer support staff payments to outside

service providers allocated overhead and depreciation expenses license royalties and partner referral fees

Allocated overhead includes rent information technology costs and employee benefits costs and is apportioned

to all departments based on relative headcount

Deferred Commissions

Deferred commissions are the incremental costS that are directly associated with noncancelable subscription

agreements and consist of sales commissions paid to the Companys direct sales force The commissions are

deferred and amortized over the noncancelable terms of the related customer contracts typically one to three

years with some agreements having durations of tip to five years The deferred commission amounts are

recoverable from the future revenue Streams under the noncancelable subscription agreements The Compan
believes this is the appropriate method of accounting as the commission costs are so closely related to the

revenue from the noncancelable subscription agreements that they should be recorded as an asset and charged to

expense over the same period that the subscription revenue is recognized Amortization of deferred commissions
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is included in sales and marketing expense
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations Deferred

commissions associated with subscription agreements for which revenue recognition has not commenced as of

December 31 2010 are classified as long-term 4eferred commissions

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company capitalized $14.9 million of deferred commissions

and amortized $10.1 million to sales and marketing expense As of December 31 2010 deferred commissions on

the Companys consolidated balance sheet totaled $20.0 million

Identified Intangible Assets

Identified intangible assets primarily consiit of acquisition-related developed technology customer

relationships tradenames and trademarks which are generally amortized oii siraight-line basis over the periods

of benefit ranging from two to
teti years The Conipany performs review of identified intangible assets

whenever events of changes in circumstances indicate that the useful life is shorter than it had originally

estimated or that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable If such facts and circumstances exist the

Company assesses the recoverability of identified intangible assets by comparing the projeØted undiscounted net

cash flows associated with the related asiet or gioup of assets over their remaining lives against their respective

carrying amounts Impairments if any are based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of

those assets If the useful life is shorter than originally estimated the Company accelerates the rate of

amorti7ation and amortizes the remaining carrying value over the new shorter useful life There were no

impairment charges related to identified intangible assets during the year ended December 31 2010

Goodwill

The Company performs goodwill impairnient test annually during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year and

more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates that an impairmentmay have occurred Such events or

circumstances may include significant adverse changes in the general busines climate among other things The

Coiæpany has determined that it is single reporting unit The impairment test is performed by determining the

fair alue of the reporting unit based on the market price of the Companys common stock If the Companys

carrying value of the reporting unit is less than its fair value then the fair value is allocated to all of the

Companys assets and liabilities including any unrecognized intangible assets as if the fair value was the

purchase price to acquire the Company The excess of the fair value over the amounts assigned to the ComjanSrs

assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of the goodwill If the carrying amount of goodwill eiceeds the

implied fair value of that goodwill an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess The

Company did not record any charges related to goodwill impairment during the year ended December 31 2010

Contingent Consideration

The Company estimates the fair value of contingent consideration issued in business combinations using

various valuation approaches as well as significant unobservable inputs reflecting the Companys assessment of

the assumptions market participants would use to value these liabilities The fair values of liability classified

contingent consideration is remeasured at each reporting period with any changes in the fair value recorded as

income or expense and such remeasurements resulted in net gain of approximately $7.9 piillion for the year

ended December 31 2010 The potential undiscounted amount of all future cash payments that the Company
could be requited to make under the contingent consideration agreements is between $0 and $62.9 million as of

December 31 2010

Equity-classified contingent consideration issued in business combinations is recognized at fair value as of

the acquisition date and not adjusted in subsequent periods
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Research and Development

The Company expenses
the cost of research and development as incurred Research and development

expenses
consist primarily of

expenses
for research and dvelopment staff the cost of certain third-party service

providers and allocated overhead

Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes qualifying computer software costs that are incurred during the application

development stage and amortizes them over the softwares estimated useful life Due to the Companys delivery

of product releases on monthly basis there have been no material qualifying costs incurred during the

application development stage in any of the periods presented On occasion the Company allows customers to

take possession of the Companys software products Accordingly the capitalization of software development

costs for software to be sold leased or otherwise marketed begins upon the establishment of technological

feasibility which is generally the completion of working prototype that has been certified as having no critical

bugs and is release candidate To date software development costs incurred between completion of working

prototype and general availability of the related product have not been material

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method which requires the recognition

of deferred tax assets or liabilities for the tax-effected temporary differences between the financial reporting and

tax bases of our assets and liabilities and for net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards

Further compliance with income tax regulations requires the Company to make decisions relating to the

transfer pricing of revenue and expenses between each of its legal entities that are located in several countries

The Companys determinations include many decisions based on managements knowledge of the underlying

assets of the business the legal ownership of these assets and the ultimate transactions conducted with customers

and other third parties The calculation of the Companys tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the

application of complex tax regulations in multiple tax jurisdictions The Company may be periodically reviewed

by domestic and foreign tax authorities regarding the amount of taxes due These reviews may include questions

regarding the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions In

evaluating the exposure associated with various filing positions the Company records estimated reserves when it

is more likely than not that an uncertain tax position will be sustained upon examination by taxing authority

These estimates are subject to change

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with remaining maturities at the date of

purchase of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents which consist of cash on deposit

with banks and money market funds are stated at cost which approximates fair value

Marketable SeŁurities

The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale Accordingly available-for-sale

securities are carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses reported as separate component of

stockholders equity deficit The cost of securities sold is based on the specific-identification method Realized

gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale securities are

included as component of interest income and other net Interest on securities classified as available-for-sale is

included as component of interest income As the Companys marketable securities are considered by the

Company as available to support current operations these securities have been classified as current assets on the

consolidated balance sheets
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Restricted Cash

The Companys restricted casI balances at Decembei 31 2010 and 2009 were as follows in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

Certificates of deposit and guarantees in connection with

corporate leases $506 $524

Credit card deposits 407 407

$913 $931

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for certain financial assets at fair value The Company determines fair value based

upon the eçit price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction

between market participants as determined by either the principal market or the most advantageous market

Inputs used in the valuation techniques to derive fair values are classified based on three-level hierarchy These

levels are

Level Quoted prices unadjpsted in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date

for assets or liabilities the fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Lçvel inputs

Level Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated

by market data

Level Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available The fair value

hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level inputs

Observable inputs are based on market data obtained from independent sources As of December 31 2010

the Company did not have any financial assets or liabilities without observable market values that would require

high level of judgment to determine fair value Level

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company has established an allowance for doubtful accounts based on review of the current status of

existing accounts receivable by customer and historical collection experience The allowance for doubtful

accounts decreased by $122000 in the
year

ended December 31 2010 and increased by $434000 in the
year

ended December 31 2009 respectively Write-offs of accounts receivable and recoveries were not significant

during each of the
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009

Balance at Beginning of Additions Charged to

Period Cost Expenses Deductions Balance at End of Period

2008 481 $280 34 727

2009 727 702 267 1161

2010 1161 315 438 1039

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets by comparing the projected undiscounted

net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over the remaining lives against their respective

carrying amounts Long-lived assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or circumstances

indicate that the carrying amounts of these assets may not be recoverable If this review indicates that the canying

amount of long-lived assets is not recoverable the carrying amount of these assets is reduced to its fair value

71



In addition to the recoverability assessment the Company routinely reviews the remaining estimated useful

lives of its long- lived assets Any reduction in the useful life assumption would result in increased depreciation

and amortizatiOn expense in the period when those determinations ale made as well as in subsequent periods

Leases

The Company leases office space under noncancelable operating leases The terms of certain lease

agreements provide for rental payments on graduated basis The Company recognizes rent expense on

straight-line basis over the lease period and accrues for rent expense incurred but not yet paid

Under certain leases the Company also received allowances for leasehold improvements These allowances

are lease incentives which have been recognized as liability and are being amortized on straight-line basis

over the term of the lease as component of minimum rental expense

Property and Equipment

Propefty and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets generally three

to five years Equipment under capital leases and leasehold improirdmeiIts are amortized ovef their respective

estimated useful lives or the remaining lease term whichever is shorter

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization

are removed from their respective accounts and any gain or loss on that sale or etirement is reflected in other

income expense and other net

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Customers and Suppliers

Financial instruments that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk cons jst primarily of cash

cash equivalents marketable securities restricted cash and accounts receivable The Company maintains an

allowance for doubtful accounts The allowance is based upon historical loss pattems the number of days that

billings are past due and an evaluation of the potential risk of loss associated with problem accounts The

Company does not require its customers to provide collateral Credit risk arising from acconnts receivable is

mitigated due to the large number of customers comprising the Companys customer base and their dispersion

across various industries No customer represented more than 10% of revenue in any of the three years in the

period ended December 31 2010

As of Deciember 31 2010 the Company had intOmational subsidiaries in over twenty countries Long- lived

assets at these Subsidiaiies were not significant as of December 31 2010 or December 31 2009 Revenue by

geographic region based on billing address of the customer was as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Americas $169912 $132171 99398

Europe .7 28514 16401 9239

Asia Pacific 7500 4482 3276

$205926 $153054 $111913

The Companys revenue from customers based in the United States was $160.2 million $126.6 million and

$96.0 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and these amounts are included in the

Americas line in the table above

The Companys cash balances are maintained at sevral banks Accounts located in the United States are

insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC up to$250000 Certain operating cash accounts

may exceed the FDIC limits
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The Company serves its customers and users from eight hosting facilities located in Arizona Delaware New

Jersey Europe Australia and China The Company has internal procedures to restore services in the event of

disasters at its current hosting facilities Even with these procedures for disaster recovery in place the Companys

service could be significantly interrupted during the implementation of the procedures to restore services

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Companys foreign subsidiaries is the local currency Adjustments resulting

from translating foreign fhnctional
currency financial statements into U.S dollars are recorded as separate

component of stockholders equity deficit Income and expense accounts are translated into U.S dollars at

average rates of exchange prevailing during the periods presented Foreign currency transaction gains and losses

are included in net loss All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are remeasured into

U.S dollars at the respective exchange rates in effect on the consolidated balance sheet dates The Company

recognized $5.0 million unrealized foreign exchange gain related to an intercompany loan in 2010

Advertising Expenses

Advertising is expensed as inciwred as component of sales and marketing expcnses on the consolidated

statement of operations Advertising expense was.$2.3 million $3.8 million and $8.3 million for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures all share-based payments including grants of stock options based on the fair value

of the stock options on the grant date and recognizes expense in the Companys consolidated statement of

operations over the period during which the recipient is required to perform service in exchange for the stock

options generally over the vesting period of the options The Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to

determine the fair values of the stock options on the grant dates The Company amortizes the fair values of share-

based payments on straight-line basis

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income loss consists of net loss and other comprehensive income loss Other

comprehensive income loss includes certain changes in equity that are excluded from net loss Specifically

cumulative foreign currency
tranlation adjustments and unrealized gains losses on marketable securities of

$3.3 million and $15 thousand are included in accumulated other comprehensive income loss for fiscal year

2010 and 2009 respectively Accumulated other comprehensive loss has been reflected in stockholders equity

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income loss were as follows in thousands

Asof

December 31

2010 2009

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments $3256

Net unrealized gain marketable securities 87

$3258 $89

Recent Acºounting Pronouncements

Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Effective April 2009 the Company adopted three accounting standard updates which were intended to

provide additional application guidance and enhanced disclosures regarding fair value measurements and

impairments of securities They also provide additional guidelines for estimating fair value in accordance with
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fair value accounting The first update provides additional guidelines for estimating fair value in accordance with

fair value accounting The second accounting update changes accounting requirements for other-than-temporary-

impairment OFFI for debt securities by replacing the current requirement that holder have the positive

intent and ability to hold an impaired security to recovery in order to conclude an impainnent was temporary

with requirement that an entity conclude it does not intend to sell an impaired security and it will not be

required to sell the security before the recovery of its amortized cost basis The third accounting update increases

the frequency of fair value disclosures These updates were effective for fiscal years and interim periods ended

after June 15 2009 The adoption of these accounting updates did not have any impact on the Companys

consolidated financial statements

Business Combinations

The Company completed the following business combinations during fiscal 2010

On July 2010 the Company acquired Inform Business Impact Inform provider of business

analytics and workforce planning software for $25.6 million in cash and 906892 shares of common

stock valued at approximately $12.9 million of which 371372 shares are held in escrow plus

contingent consideration based on performance related earn-out payments with fair value of $5.3

million This acquisition was not considered material to the Company

On July 13 2010 the Company acquired Epista Software A/S YouCalc provider of real-time

analytics and reporting software for $3.2 million in cash plus contingent consideration based on

performance related earn-out payments in shares of common stock with fair value of $1.5 million

This acquisition was not considered material to the Company

On July 20 2010 the Company acquired CubeTree Inc CubeTree provider of social media and

collaboration software for 903733 shares of common stock valued at approximately $18.9 million of

which 190511 shares are held in escrow plus future contingent cash payment with fair value of

$27.8 million

Each of these acquisitions was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting Assets acquired and

liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair values as of the respective acquisition dates The total purchase

price for each acquisition was comprised of the following amounts in thousands except shares

Net Tangible Assets

Acquired/liabilities Purchased Intangible

Shares Issued Purchase Consideration assumed Assets Goodwill

Inform 906892 $43838 $1412 $23900 $21350

YouCalc 4676 20 3710 986

CubeTree 903733 46653 67 8120 38466

Total 1810625 $95167 $1365 $35730 $60802

Transaction costs associated with the business combinations completed in fiscal 2010 were expensed as

incurred totaled $2.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 and are included general and administrative

expenses on the consolidated statement of operations

The initial purchase price allocation for all acquisitions completed in fiscal 2010 is preliminary as of

December 31 2010 Changes to amounts recorded as assets or liabilities may result in corresponding

adjustment to goodwill The goodwill recorded in connection with the Companys business combinations is

primarily related to the ability of the acquired companies to develop new products and technologies in the future

and expected synergies to be achieved in connection with the acquisitions The goodwill recognized is not

expected to be deductible for income tax purposes except for approximately $1.0 million of goodwill related to

the YouCalc acquisition
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In connection with the business combinations the Company agreed to pay certain amounts contingent upon

the achievement of agreed-upon milestones as follows

The Company agreed to pay additional cash consideration on sliding scale of upto $15.0 million to

the former shareholders of Inform upon achievement of certain revenue jookings target during the first

two twelve month periods subsequent to the acquisition date As of the acquisition date the Company

estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration to be approximately $5.3 mijlion based on the

present value of the expected payments over each of the two twelve month periods The valuation

method used to estimate the fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement included signifidant

inputs that are not observable in the market Level inputs with key assumptions including

varying probability of criteria achievement and ii discount rate based on the prime lending rate as

of the acquisition date The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that the Company

could be required to make for contingerjt consideration under the agreement between $0 and $15.0

million which will be remeasured on quarterly basis and any changes jn fair yalue recprded as an

qdjustment to the contingent consideration liability and an offsetting increase or decrease to incom or

expense For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company recorded gaii of approximately $12

million related to change in the fair value of the contingent consideration which ipcludes $1.1 miffion

unrealized foreign currency translation gain In addition the Cothpany agreed to makdditiona1 cash

payments of up to $5.0 million to the former shareholders of Inform based upon ther coqtintmed

employment witlj the Company for two years as of the close of the transaction Ihis arrangement is

considered compensatory and therefore $5.0 million is being recognized as compensation etpensç

over the requisite two-year service period The Company recognized $1.3 million of compensation

expense related to this arrangement for the year ended December 31 2010

The Company agreed to issue 98290 shares of common stock to the former shareholders of YouCalc

upon the achievement of certain product development and performance milestones As of the

acquisition date the Company estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration to be

approximately $1.5 million The valuation method used to estimate the acquisition dae fair value of

the contingent consideration arrangement was based on significant inputs that are not observable in the

market Level inputs with key assumptions including expected lock-up period for common stock

issued ii volatility based on the Companys historical volatility and the volatility implied by traded

options on the Companys common stock iiprobability of achieving the milestones and iv likely

issuance date of months after the date of acquisition The contingent consideration is considered

equity classified amid is therefore not subject to reineasurement post acquisition

The Company agreed to pay additional cash consideration of up to approximately $47.9 million to the

former shareholders of CubeTree on the three-year anniversary of the closing or at such earlier time as

change of control of the Company occurs the Top-Up Payment Date If on the Top-Up Payment

Date the value of the common stock issued as consideration at the closing the Market Value is less

than approximately $47.9 million or $53.01 per share the Guaranteed Value subject to adjustments

the Company will make payment to such holders in an aggregate amount equal to the difference

betwen the Guaranteed Value and the Market Value the Top Up Payment The aggregate Top-Up

Payment will be reduced to the extent of any sale transfer or other disposition of any of the

consideration subject to certain limited exceptions Such right to receive the Top-Up Payment will

terminate in the event the value of the shares of the consideration paid at closing equals or exceeds

approximately $47.9 million or $53.01 per share at any time prior to the Top-Up Payment Date As of

the acquisition date the Company estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration to be $27.7

million using the Monte Carlo Simulation approach This valuation method wa based on significant

inputs that are not observable in the market Level inputs with key assumptions including

expected term of three years ii rate of retum based on the yield on the three year U.S Treasury

bill iiivolatility based on the Companys historical stock price volatility and the volatility implied by

traded options in the companys common stock and iv strike price of $53.01 As of December 31

2010 the potential undiscounted amount of the payment that the Company could be required to make
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onthe Top-Up Payment Date is between $0 and approximately $47.9 million On quarterly basis the

Company will remeasure the fair value of the contingent consideration and any changes will be

recorded as an adjustment to the contingent consideration liability For the
year

ended December 31

2010 the Company recorded gain of approximately $6.7 million related to change in the fair value of

the contingent consideration

The business combinations in 2010 contributed approximately $4.3 million of the Companys revenue for

the year ended December 31 2010 and contributed approximately $5.0 million of net loss for the
year

ended

December 31 2010

Pro Forma Financial Information

The pro forma financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations for

the Company and CubeTree which wa considered significant acquisition for the
purposes

of
pro

forma

financial information disclosure as though the companies were combined as of the beginning of each period

presented The
pro

forma financial information for all periods presented includS the accounting effects resulting

from the CubeTree acquisition including amortization charges from acquired intangible assets and stdck-based

cothpensàtion charges for unvested restricted stock-based awards as though the Company and CubeTree were

combined as of January 2010 The related tax effedt was insignificant The
pro

forma financial information as

presented below is for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would

have been achieved if the acquisition- of CubeTree had taken place as of the beginning of each period presented

Years Ended December 31

in thousands except per share data
2010 2009

Revenue $206022 $153059

Net loss $16470 $15186
Net loss per common share and diluted 0.22 0.26

Balance Sheet Accounts

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

Computers equipment and software 16379 11236

Furniture and fixtures 2468 1915

Vehicles 42 42

Leasehold improvements 4204 3047

23093 16240

Less accumulated dpreciation and amortization 14356 10453

8737 .$ 5787

Depreciation and amortization expense totaled $4.0 million $4.0 million and $3.9 million for theyears

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively
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Cash Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December 31 2010 consisted of the following in

thousands

As of December 312010

Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized

Gains Losses

Cash

Cash equivalents

Money market funds

Commercial paper

Total cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents

Marketable securities

U.S Treasury bills and bonds

U.S Government and agency securities

Intemational government securities

Commercial paper

Corporate debt securities

Marketable equity securities

Total marketable securities

Cost

23538

33000

1884

51846

75384

9836

196167

5050

21315

48651
so

281069

Estimated

Fair

Value

23538

33000

18846

51846

75384

9834

196205

5056

21315

48585

78

281073

119

-6

28

162

81

75

Total cash cash equivalents and

marketable securities $3-56453 $162 $158 $356457

The Company did not have anymarketable securities that were in an unrealized loss position for 12 months

or greater as of December 31 201 Investments in unrealized loss positions for less than 12 months and theft

related fair value as of December-31 2010 Were as follows in thousands

As of December 312010

TotalLess than 12 Months

Unrealized

Security Description Fair Value Loss

U.S Treasury bills and bonds 3935

U.S Govemment and agency securities 72042 81
Corporate debt securities 25964 75

Total $101941 $158

Fair Value

3935

72042

25964

$101941

Unrealized

Loss

81
75

$158

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of pr investpients in marketable debt securities

designated as available-for-sale classified by the contractual maturity date of the security in thousands

Asof
December 31

2010

Due within year $214164

Due within year through years 66831

Due within years through 10 years

Due after 10 years

Total marketable debt securities $280995
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Cash cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December31 2009 consisted of the following in

thousands

As of December 312009

Cash

Cash equivalents

Money market funds

Total cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents

Marketable securities

U.S Treasury bills and bonds

U.S Govemment and agency securities

Corporate debt securities

Marketable equity securities

________ ________

Total marketable securities

Total cash cash equivalents and

marketable securities

Less than 12 Months Total

Unrealized Unrealized

Security Description Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss

U.S Govemment and agency securities $131090 $158 $131090 $l58

Total $131090 $158 $131090 $158

The Company did not recognize any other-than-temporary impairments for the years ended December 31

2010 or 2009

Goodwill

Goodwill consisted of the following in thousands

Balance at December 2009

Additions

Foreign currency
translation

Balance at December 31 2010
______

Gross

Unrealized

Gains

Gross

Unrealized

LossesCost

8914

67704

67704

76618

Estimated

Fair

Value

8914

67704

67704

76618

115478

131090

61

246629

115478

131248 158

50

246776

11

11 158

$323394 $11 $158 $323247

The Company did not have any marketable securities that were in an unrealized loss position for 12 months

or greater as of December 31 2009 Investments in unrealized loss positions for less than 12 months and their

related fair value as of December 31 2009 were as follows in thousands

As of December 312009

$60802

3275

$64077

As the functional currencies of the Companys foreign subsidiaries where goodwill is recorded are their

respective local currencies the foreign currencies are translated into U.S dollars using exchange rates in effect at

period end Foreign currency translation adjustments are included in other comprehensive income loss
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Purchased Intangible Assets

The following tables present details of the intangible assets acquired through business combinations during

fiscal 2010 in thousands except years

7324

7255

7009

5394

2768

8082

$37832

Year Ended

December 31
2010

$2920

99

99

$3118

Of these amounts $2.9 million and $0.2 million were included in cost of revenue subscription and support

and sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31 2010 respectively There was no

amortization of purchased intangibles recorded for the year ended December 31 2009

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of December 31 2Q10 and 2009 consisted of in

thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

1785 $1136

219 114

36 56

902 2091

8491 3823

$11433 $7220

Technology

Customer relationships

Trademark and tradename

Total purchased intangible assets with finite

lives

Weighted-

Average Useful

Life in Years Gross

$33730

1000

1000

Foreign

Accumulated currency

Amortization translation

$2920 $4808

99 206

99 206

Net

$35618

1107

1107

$37832$35730 $3118 $5220

As of December 31 2010 the Company expects amortization expense in future periods to be as follows in

thousands

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

thereafter

Total

The following table presents the amortization of purchased intangible assets in thousands

Technology

Customer relationships

Trademark and Tradename

December 31
2009

Accrued royalties

Accrued partner referral fees

Deferred rent

Indirect taxes

Accrued other liabilities
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Accrued employee compensation as of December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of in thousands

Accrued bonus payable

Accmed commission payable

Accrued vacation

All other accmed employee compensation payable

Conunitments and Contingencies

As of December 31

2010 2009

6895 5356

12279 7356

1809 875

2484 959

$23467 $14546

Lease Commitments

The Company leases office space under non-cancelable operating leases with various expiration dates

through December 2015 The Company recognizes rent expense on the straight-line basis over the lease period

The Companys lease agreements for the facilities have the option to renew The Companys future contractual

obligations would change if the Company exercised these options

Rent expense for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $3.5 million $2.9 million and

$2.7 million respectively

As of December 31 2010 future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases were as

follows in thousands

Operating

Year Ending December 31 Leases

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

3151

1444

1047

Total minimum lease payments $17064

Warranties and Indemnification

The Companys applidation suite is warranted to perform in manner consistent with industry standard

warranties including performing materially in accordance with the Companys on-line help documentation under

normal use and circumstances

Additionally the Companys arrangements generally include provisions for indemnifying customers against

liabilities if its services infringe third partys intellectual property rights To date the Company has not incurred

any material costs as result of those indenmifications and has not accrued any liabilities related to these

obligations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements

The Company has entered into service level agreements with majority of its customers warranting defined

levels of uptime availability and permitting those customers to receive service credits and/or to terminate their

agreements in the event that the Company fails to meet those service levels To date the Company has not

experienced any significant failures to meet defined levels of uptime availability as result of those agreements

and accordingly has not accmed any liabilities related to these agreements in the accompanying consolidated

financial statements

4184

3765

3473
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Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures cash equivalents which consist of money market funds with remaining maturities

at the date of purchase of 90 days or less and marketable securities which consist of U.S treasury bills

government and agency securities and marketable equity securities at fair value Cash equivalents and

marketable securities are classified within Level or Level hierarchies The Company prices cash equivalents

and marketable securities using quoted market prices and available market information through processes such as

benchmark curves market valuations of like securities sector groupings and matrix pricing

The following table presents the cash equivalents marketable securities and liabilities carried at fair value

as of December 31 2010 in thousands

Fair Value Measuremeüts Using

Quoted Prices in

As of Active Market for Significant Other Significant Other

December 31 Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

Description 2010 Level Level Level

Cash equivalents

Money market funds 33000 $33000

Commercial paper 18846 18846

Total cash equivalents 51846 51846

Marketable securities

U.S Treasury bills and bonds 9834 9834

U.S Government and agency

securities 196205 196205

International government

securities 5056 5056

Commercial
paper 21315 21315

Corporate debt securities 48585 48585

Marketable equity securities 78 78

Total $281073 9912 $271161

Liabilities

Acquisition non-equity contingent

consideration 26250 $26250

As of December 31 2010 the carrying value of the Companys cash equivalents approkimated their fair

value and represented approximately 15% of the Companys total cash cash equivalent and tharketable

securities portfolio which was held primarily in money market funds and commercial paper The Company held

no direct investments in auction rate securities collateralized debt obligations structuredinvestment vehicles or

mortgage-backed securities

Marketable securities are considered available-for-sale and are carried in the Companys consolidated

financial statements at fair market value with changes in value recognized as unrealized gains and losses net of

tax in other comprehensive income Gross unrealized gains and losses on cash equivalents and marketable

securities were not material as of December 31 2010 and 2009 Accumulated gains and losses are reclassified to

earnings when the securities are sold

Acquisition-related Contingent Consideration

The Company estimates the fair value of acquisitionrelated liability classified contingent consideration

using various valuation approaches including the Monte Carlo Simulation approach Finnerty option model and

discounted cash flow model The contingent consideration liabilities are classified as Level liabilities because
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the Company uses unobservable inputs to value them reflecting the Companys assessment of the assumptiens

marker participants would use to value these liabilities The unrealized gains and losses related to the contingent

considerations were included in operating expenses on the consolidated statement of operations

The following tables present reconciliation for liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis tising

significant unobservable inputs Level as of December 31 2010 in thousands

Fair Value

Measurements

Using

Significant Unobservable

Inputs Level

Balance as of December 31 2009

Contingent consideration issued in business

combinations 33020

Total change in fair value 7874
Foreign currency translation 1104

Balance as of December 31 2010 $26250

Stockholders Equity

Preferred Stock

The Companys board of directors has the authority to issue up to 5000000 shares of preferred stock with

par value of $0.00 per share and to determine the rights preferences privileges and restrictions of the preferred

stock including dividend rights conversion rights voting rights terms of redemption liquidatiod preference

and number of shares constituting any series or the designation of any series At December 31 2010 and 2009
no shares of preferred stock were outstanding

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 200000000 shares of common stock with par value of $0.001 per

share Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by stockholders

of the Company

Common Stock Warrants

The Company issued warrant to an investor in June 2006 to purchase up to 499535 shares of the

Companys commOn stock at an exercise price of $4.80 per share In May 2008 the investor elected to exercise

net exercise provision of the warrant agreement and converted warrants to purchase 499535 shares of common

stock into 287033 shares of common stock At December 31 2010 the Company had no common stock

warrants outstanding

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Plans

In June 2001 the Companys Board of Directors adopted and its stockholders approved the 2001 Stock

Option Plan which was terminated upon the completion of the Companys initial public offering In November

2007 the Companys Board of Directors adopted and its stockholders approved the 2007 Equity Inceitive Plan

the Stock Plan toreplace the 2001 Stock Option Plan immediately following the Companys initial public

offering The Stock Plan provides for the issuance of incentive and nonstatutory stock options restricted stock

awards stock bonus awards stock appreciation rights and restricted stock uflits Options issued under the Stock
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Plan are generally for periods not to exceed ten years
and must be issued at prices not less than 100% of the

estimated fair value of the shares of common stock on the date of
grant as determined by the Board of Directors

The Stock Plan provides for grants of immediately exercisable options Options become vested and exercisable at

such times and under such conditions as determined by the Board of Directors at the date of grant Options or

shares issued upon early exercise of options generally vest over four years with 25% vesting after one year and

the balance vesting monthly over the remaining period Any shares exercised prior to vesting may be repurchased

by the Company at the original option exercise price in the event of the employees termination The right to

repurchase unvested shares lapses at the rate of the vesting schedule

For non-cash stock-based awards exchanged for employee services the Company measures stock-based

compensation on the grant date based on the fair value of the award and recognizes expense over the requisite

service period which for the Company is generally the vesting period To estimate the fair value of an award the

Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model This model requires inputs such as expected term expected

volatility and risk-free interest rate These inputs are subjective and generally require significant analysis and

judgment to develop For all grants during 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company calculated the expected term

based on its historical experience from previous stock option grants The Company estimates the volatility of its

common stock by analyzing its historical volatility and considering volatility data of its
peer group

and their

implied volatility The Company estimates the forfeiture rate based on historical experience of its stock-based

awards that are granted exercised and cancelled

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company recognized $22.0 million $10.4

million and $8.6 million in stock-based compensation expense respectively The Companys stock-based

compdnsation expense is recorded within operating expenses on the consolidated statement of operations

There was no capitalized stock-based compensation cost and there were no recognized stock-based

compensation tax benefits during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

The fair value of options granted to employees during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

were determined using the following weighted-average assumptions for employee grants

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Expected life in years 4.37 4.36 3.95

Risk-free interest rate 1.69% 1.82% 2.40%

Expected volatility 62% 69% 55%

Dividend yield

Weighted-average estimated fair value of options granted

during theperiod $11.47 $4.27 $4.13

During 2010 the Company granted options to purchase total of 120000 shares of common stock to

members of its Board of Directors at $22.08 per
share which vest quarterly over one year period The fair value

of these options granted was based on the following assumptions expected life from grant date in years of

2.4 years risk-free interest rate of 0.91% expected volatility of 57.9% dividend yield of 0% for weighted

average estimated fair value of $7.77 per
share
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Range of

Exercise Prices

Options Exercisable

Weighted-

Average
Shares Subject Exercise Price

to Options per Share

In thousands

summary of the Companys stock option activity for the year ended December 31 2010 is as follows

Options Outstanding

Balance at December 31 2009

Options granted

Exercised

Canceled

Number of

Shares

In thousands

10879

1564

3675
953

Weighted-

Average
Exercise Price

6.58

$22.95

6.16

$10.87

Weighted-Average

Remaining
Contractual Term

in years

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

In thousands1

BalanceatDecember3l2010 7815 9.64 6.91 $151039

Exercisable as of December 31 2010 .. 4603 6.02 6.10 $105614

Vested and expected to vest2 7427 9.24 6.83 $146527

The aggregate
intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying

awards and the closing stock price of $28.96 of our common stock on December 31 2010

Options expected to vest reflect an estimated forfeiture rate

Additional information regarding options outstanding as of December 31 2010 is as follows

Options Outstanding

Weighted-Average Weighted-

Remaining Average
Shares Subject Contractual Life Exercise Price

to Options in years per Share

In thousands

7815 6.91 9.64 4603

$0.02$1.30 1381 4.92 1.06 1381 1.06

1.60 7.28 1330 7.32 5.1O 751 4.78

7.56 8.31 698 7.44 8.04 346 8.01

8.50 8.50 1433 6.43 8.50 1202 8.50

8.75 12.53 1305 6.70 9.72 843 9.61

13.45 29.68 1668 8.59 21.98 80 19.48

Total 6.02

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 was $11.47 $4.27 and $4.13 respectively The total intrinsic value of options exercised during

the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $65.4 million $10.6 million and $13.3 million

respectively The total grant date fair value of stock options that vested during the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 was $4.1 million $2.7 million and $1.2 million respectively As of Decembçr 31 2010

there was $19.6 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to stock options The

unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over an average period of 2.33
years

There was no capitalized stock-based employee compensation cost and there were no recognied stock-

based compensation tax benefits during the
years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

84



The following table summarizes the activity for the Companys unvested restricted stock units RSUs for

the year ended December 31 2010

Unvested at December 31 2009

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested at December 31 2010

Expected to vest after Decethber 31 20 101

RSUs expected to vest reflect an estimated forfeiture rate

Unvested Restricted Stock Units

Weighted -Average

Number of Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value

In thousands

1390

2170

457
338

2765

2241

As of December 31 2010 there was $40.3 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to employee

RSUs This amount is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 118 years

Stock Awards Issued to Non-employees

The Company accounts for stock awards issued to non-employees based on the fair value of the equity

instrument issued During the years effded December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company granted options to

purchase 12.000 18.000 and shares of common stock respectively to non-employees The Company recorded

stock-based compensation expense of $0.2 million $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the fair value of stock

options granted to non-employees duringihe years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Common Stock

The Company had reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows in thousands

Stock Plans

Options and awards outstanding

Stock available for future grants

Interest and Other Income Net

As of December 31

2010 2009

10580

5208

15788

12269

5159

17428

Interest income

Interest expense

Realized gain on marketable securities

Foreign currency exchange gain loss
Other income expense

Year Ended Decmber 31

2010 2009 2008

$1350 $570 $2342

17 48 425

71
Interest and other income net $1414

807
183

$1780

$11.52

12.77

13.21

5.67

$12.94

10

142 128

64

$810
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10 Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per con-mon share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of

common shares outstanding for the period Diluted net loss per common share is computed by giving effect to all

potentially dilutive common shares including options and warrants Basic and diluted net loss
per common share

was the same for all periods presented as the impact of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding was anti-

dilutive Securities that could potentially dilute basic net income
per

share in the future as of December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 were 11.1 million including 0.6 million shares held in escrow in connection with Inform and

Cubetree acquisitions 12.3 million and 12.4 million respectively

data

The following table sets forth the computation of net loss
per common share in thousands except per

share

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net loss $12450 $12634 $64952

Weighted average common shares outstanding net of

weighted-average shares subject to repurchase 73939 59534 53803

Net loss per common share basic and diluted 0.17 0.21 1.21

11 Income Taxes

The Companys geographical breakdown of its loss before provision for income taxes is as follows in

thousands

Year Ended December 31

2O10 2009 2008

Domestic $12940 $12500 $65307

Foreign 1733 1188 1119

Loss before provision for income taxes $l 1207 $1 1312 $641.88

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows in thousands

Current provision

Federal

State

Foreign

Total current provision

Deferred provision

Federal

State

Foreign

Total deferred provision

Total

47

41
$1243 $1322

Year Ended December 31

20j0 2009 2008

$8
132

1151 1333 772

1284 1322 764

$764
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reconciliation of the benefit for income taxes at the statutory rate to the Companys provision for income

taxes is as follows in thousands

Tax benefit at federal statutory rate

State taxes net of federal benefit

Research and development credits

Foreign operations taxed at different rates

Stock compensation

Nondeductible
expenses

Gain on remeasurement of acquisition related contingent

consideration

Change in valuation allowance

Provision for income taxes

Deferred tax assets

Reserves and accruals

Deferred revenue

Depreciation and amortization

Net operating loss carryforwards

Sthck-based compensation

Tax credit carryforwards

Other
_______ _______

Gross deferred tax assets

Valuation allowance

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Acquired intangibles 3680
Acquired goodwill

Total deferred tax liabilities 3685

Net deferred tax assets 670

Recognition of deferred tax assets appropriate wheii fealization the assets is more likely than not

Based upon the weight of available evidence which includes the Companys historical operating performance

and the recorded cumulative net losses in all prior fiscal periods the Company has provided full valuation

allowance against its U.S deferred tax assets and certain foreign deferred tax assets Outside of purchase

accounting adjustments the Companys valuation allowance increased by $7.0 million $5.8 million and $25.9

million in the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

At December 31 2010 the Company had U.S federal state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of

approximately $199.6 million $199.4 million and $11.1 million respectively Of these amounts $62.3 million

and $53.1 million respectively represent federal and state tax deductions from stock option compensation which

will be recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital when they reduce taxes payable The U.S federal

net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2023 through 2030 if not utilized Most

state net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning ih 2013 through 2030 The foreign

net operating loss carryforwards will carryforward indefinitely if not utilized

Year Ended December 31

Z010 2009 2008

$3812
549

1184
320

2325
306

$3846
567
878
802

1353

294

$21789

1468
323

3331

614

3120
6957 4164 23677

1243 1322 764

Significant components of the dunpanys net deferred tax assets are as follows in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

11700

8278
8985

57893

4783

5567
19

97225

92870

4355

5697

8202
9359

53331

3939

4293
625

-85453

85453
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The Company uses the with-and-without approach to determine the recognition and measurement of

excess tax benefits Accordingly the Company has elected to recognize excess income tax benefits from stock

option exercises in additional paid in capital only if an incremental income tax benefit would be realized after

considering all other tax attributes presently available to the Company As of December 31 2010 the amount of

such excess tax benefits from stock options included in net operating losses was $62.3 million In addition the

Company has elected to account for the indirect effects of stock-based awards on other tax attributes such as the

research and alternative minimum tax credits through the income statement

As of December 31 2010 the Company had U.S federal and state tax credit carryforwards of approximately

$3.3 million and $3.0 million respectively The federal credit will expire at various dates beginning in 2022 through

2030 if not utilized California state research and development credits can be carded forward indefinitely

Net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards reflected above are subject to limitations due to

ownership changes as provided in the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions

The Company does not provide for U.S federal income and state income taxes on all of the

non-U.S subsidiaries undistributed earnings of $1.9 million as of December 31 2010 because these earnings

are intended to be indefinitely reinvested Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or

otherwise the Company would be subject to nominal U.S federal and state income taxes

As of December 31 2008 the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $1.8 million of

which $855000 would impact the effective tax rate if recognized As of December 31 2009 the Company had

gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $2.7 million of which $1.6 million would impact the effective tax

rate if recognized As of December 31 2010 the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately

$3.8 million of which $2.0 million would impact the effective tax rate if recognized While it is often difficult to

predict the final outŒome of any particular uncertain tax position management does not believe that it is reasonably

possible that the estimates of unrecognized tax benefits will change significantly in the next twelve months

The Company recognizes interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its income

tax provision As of December 31 2010 the Company accrued interest of $23 thousand in income tax expense

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 is as follows in thousands

2010 2009

Balance at January $2747 $1844
Additions based on tax positions taken during prior period 575 271

Reductions based oritax positions taken during prior period

Additions based on tax positions taken during the current period 509 632

Reductions baed on tax positions taken during the current period

Balance at December31 $3831 $2747

The companys material jurisdictions are the United States federal and California which remain open to

examination by the appropriate governmental agencies for tax years 2007 to 2010 and 2006 to 2010

respectively The federal and state taxing authorities may choose to audit tax returns for tax years beyond the

statute of limitation period due to significant tax atthbute carryforwards from prior years making adjustments

only to carryforward attributes

12 Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has 401k plan covering all eligible employees Participants may contribute up to

maximum of $16500 and $15500 in pre-tax contributions and up to $5500 and $5000 of pre-tax catch-up

contributions if 50 years of
age or older for calendar years 2010 and 2009 respectively The Company is not
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required to contribute to the plan The Company made no contributions in 2010 and 2009 and contributed

approximately $675000 in fiscal 2008

13 Related Party

In connection with the Inform acquisition in July 2010 the Company assumed noncancelable operating

lease for an office building in Brisbane Australia owned by the former owners of Inform and who are now

stockholders of the Company The lease expires in 2015 with future payment obligations of approximately $5.0

million The associated rent expense was approximately $0.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010

14 Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated all subsequent events through the filing date of this Form 10-K with the SEC

15 Selected Quarterly Financial Data unaudited in thousands expect per share data

Quarter Ended

Mar 31 June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31
2010 2010 2010 2010

Total revenue $44735 $49503 $51536 $60152

Gross profit 34145 37766 35062 42462

Loss from operations 3315 1541 7276 5442
Netloss $3710 $1875 $2814 $4051
Net loss

per common share basic and diluted 0.05 0.03 0.04 0.05

Quarter Ended

Mar 31 June 30 Sept.30 Dec 31

2009 2009 2009 2009

Total revenue $35220 $36940 $38685 $42209
Gross profit 26731 28993 29854 32153
Loss from operations 5620 2358 2078 2066
Net loss 5682 2321 1972 2659
Net loss per common share basic and diluted 0.10 0.04 0.03 0.04

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010 the Company early adopted EITF 08-01 ASU 2009-13 and

retrospectively applied the new accounting standard to arrangements entered into or materially modified after

January 2010 the beginning of the Companys fiscal year The adoption of ASU 2009-13 increased revenue

in the first and second quarter of fiscal 2010 by $959000 and $2659000 respectiely and resulted in

corresponding reduction in the net loss of $942000 and $2600000 respectively Financial information for the

first and second quarter of fiscal 2010 has been revised to reflect the adoption of ASU 2009-13

During the three months ended December 31 2010 the Company identified revenue errors associated with

the third quarter adoption of ASU 2900-13 These errors understated revenues in the third quarter of fiscal 2010

by approximately$584000 and upon correction overstated the fourth quarter revenues by the same amount

The Company concluded that these errors were immaterial to the third and fourth quarter of fiscal 2010

a2 Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the information is included

in Registrants consolidated financial statements or related notes

a3 Exhibits

The exhibit list in the Index to Exhibits is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits required as

part of this report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Registrant has duly caused this report

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL THESE PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below

constitutes and appoints Lars Dalgaard and Bruce Felt and each of them his or her attorneys-in-fact each with

full power of substitution for him or her in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this Annual

Report on Form 10-K and to file the same with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith

with the Securities and Exchange Commission hereby ratifying and confirming all that each said

attorneys-in-fact or his or her substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended this report has been

signed below by the following persons in behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Is LARS DALGAARD

Lars Dalgaard

Is BRUCE FELT JR

Bruce Felt Jr

Is DOUGLAS BURGIJM

Douglas Burgum

Is ERIC Du
Eric Dunn

Title Date

Chief Executive Officer and March 2011

Director

Principal Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer March 2011

Principal Financial and Accounting

Officer

Chairperson of the Board of Directors March 2011

Director March 2011

William Harris Jr

Is ILLIAM MCGLASHAN JR

William McGlashan Jr

Is ELIZAnETH NELSON

Elizabeth Nelson

Director

Director

March 82011

March 82011

Is Jom SCHWARZ

John Schwarz

Director March 2011

Date March 2011

SUCCESSFACTORS 1NC

By /5 LARS DALGAARD

Name

Title

Lars Dalgaard

Chief Executive Officer

Signature

Is WILLIAM HARRIS JR Director March 82011
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Lars Dalgaard certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SuccessFactors Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant

as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15e and Sd- 15e and intemal

control over financial reporting as defrned in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15f and .lSd-15f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of

an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

intemal control over financial reporting

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit conmiittee of the registrants

board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 82011

Is Lars Dalgaard

Name Lars Dalgaard

Title Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Bruce Felt certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SuccessFactors Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances nnder which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based On my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information ineluded in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant

as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as ddfined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal

control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15fT for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supŒrQision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in whichthis report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial r6porting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of

an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

internal control over financial reporting

Theregisttants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

inteinal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants

board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over1inàncial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 82011

Is Bruce Felt

Name Bruce Felt

Title Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of

SuccessFactors Inc the Report for the purpose
of complying with Rule 3a- 14b or Rule Sd- 14b of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United

States Code

Lars Dalgaard the Chief Executive Officer of SuccessFactors Inc each certifies that to the best of his

knowledge

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of SuccessFactors Inc

Date March 2011

Is Lars Dalgaard

Name Lars Dalgaard

Title Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of

SuccessFactors Inc the Report for the purpose of complying with Rule .13a-14b or Rule 15d-14b of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United

States Code

Lars Dalgaard the Chief Executive Officer of SuccessFactors Inc each certifies that to the best of his

knowledge

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act and

the informatiou contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of SuccessFactors Inc

Date March 82011

Is Lars Dalgaard

Name Lars Dalgaard

Title Chief Executive Officer
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